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Part I
Item 1. Financial Statements
LIMBACH HOLDINGS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
June 30,
2019
(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
Other current assets (Note 14)
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $14.1 million and $11.8 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31,
2018, respectively
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable, including retainage
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Accrued income taxes
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Note 14)
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, net, par value $0.0001, 1,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at
June 30, 2019 or December 31, 2018
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 7,643,133 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2019 and
7,592,911 at December 31, 2018
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

$

1,011
113
142,761
36,030
4,637
184,552
20,758
12,603
10,488
4,170
798
233,369

2,173
69,702
46,536
10
24,575
142,996
39,983
2,498
185,477

$

$

$

-

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,
2018

1
55,673
(7,782 )
47,892
233,369

1,619
113
135,687
32,698
34,869
204,986
20,527
12,953
10,488
4,409
271
253,634

3,141
74,353
50,843
53,801
182,138
23,614
1,514
207,266

-

$

1
54,791
(8,424 )
46,368
253,634

LIMBACH HOLDINGS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Amortization of intangibles
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expenses):
Interest expense, net
Gain on disposition of property and equipment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on change in fair value of warrant liability
Total other expenses
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net income (loss)
Dividends on cumulative redeemable convertible preferred stock
Premium paid on partial preferred redemption
Net income (loss) attributable to Limbach Holdings, Inc. common stockholders

$

Three months ended June 30,
2019
2018
132,753
$
139,531
115,352
123,733
17,401
15,798
17,079
175
17,254
147

$

13,685
336
14,021
1,777

Six months ended June 30,
2019
2018
266,704 $
260,080
229,270
230,995
37,434
29,085
33,124
350
33,474
3,960

29,351
671
30,022
(937)

$

(1,568)
40
(1,528 )
(2,465)
(750)
(1,715)
(113)
2,219
(3,821 )

$

(1,597)
9
(513)
(103)
(2,204 )
(2,057)
(553)
(1,504)
(1,504 )

Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)
Basic earnings (loss) per share for common stock:
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Limbach Holdings, Inc. common stockholders

$

(0.20)

$

0.09

$

0.08

$

(0.51)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share for common stock:
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Limbach Holdings, Inc. common stockholders

$

(0.20)

$

0.09

$

0.08

$

(0.51)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

7,643,133
7,643,133

$

(799)
24
(775)
1,002
293
709
709

$

(2,430)
21
(513)
(103)
(3,025 )
935
293
642
642

7,542,503
7,807,768

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
4

7,643,133
7,717,484

7,541,965
7,541,965

LIMBACH HOLDINGS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share amounts)
Balance at December 31, 2018
Stock-based compensation
Shares issued related to vested restricted stock units
Net income
Balance at March 31, 2019
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at June 30, 2019

(in thousands, except share amounts)
Balance at December 31, 2017
Dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock
Premium paid on redemption of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Stock-based compensation
Shares issued related to vested restricted stock units
Exercise of warrants
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2018
Stock-based compensation
Net income
Balance at June 30, 2018

Common Stock
Number of
shares
Par value
outstanding
amount
7,592,911
50,222
7,643,133
7,643,133

$

$

Additional
paid-in
capital
1
1
1

$

$

Common Stock
Number of
shares
Par value
outstanding
amount
7,504,133
27,489
10,627
7,542,249
7,542,249

$

$

54,791
367
55,158
515
55,673

Additional
paid-in
capital
1
1
1

$

$

54,738
113
(2,219)
467
53,099
654
53,753

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accumulated
deficit
$

$

(8,424)
2,146
(6,278)
(1,504 )
(7,782 )

Accumulated
deficit
$

$

(6,579)
(2,424 )
(9,003)
709
(8,294 )

Stockholders’
equity
$

$

46,368
367
2,146
48,881
515
(1,504 )
47,892

Stockholders’
equity
$

$

48,160
113
(2,219)
467
(2,424 )
44,097
654
709
45,460

LIMBACH HOLDINGS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Stock-based compensation expense
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)
Loss on debt extinguishment
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
(Increase) decrease in other current assets (1)
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
(Increase) decrease in prepaid income taxes (1)

Six months ended June 30,
2019
2018
$

642

2,798
47
1,121
144
(750)
(40)

(7,107)
(3,332)
30,138
(4,651)
(4,307)
101
-

(8,060)
283
(688)
(289)
(6,017)
15,407
(706)
(2,222)

(32,190)
(87)
(15,661)

1,112
255
680

77
1
(1,229 )
(1,151 )

123
(2,117 )
(1,994 )

$

4,869
(1,500)
67,039
(66,594)
10,000
(1,764)
(957)
(9,191)
(875)
(83)
944
(370)
739
369

$
$

1,521
1,184

$

2,783
(14,335)
17,500
(17,500)
7,500
(7,500)
38,643
969
388
(7,736)
(1,140)
(3,339)
(29)
16,204
(608)
1,732
1,124

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Noncash investing and financing transactions:
Property and equipment acquired financed with capital leases
Interest paid

$
$

1,581
1,621

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(1,715)

2,873
33
882
510
239
513
103
(21)

Increase (decrease) in accrued taxes payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Advances to joint ventures
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase in bank overdrafts
Payments on Credit Agreement term loan
Proceeds from Credit Agreement revolver
Payments on Credit Agreement revolver
Proceeds from 2019 Revolving Credit Facility
Payments on 2019 Revolving Credit Facility
Proceeds from 2019 Refinancing Term Loan, net of debt discount
Warrants issued in conjunction with the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan
Embedded derivative associated with the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan
Proceeds from Bridge Term Loan
Payments on Bridge Term Loan
Payments on capital leases
Convertible preferred stock redeemed
Convertible preferred stock dividends paid
Payments of debt issue costs
Taxes paid related to net-share settlement of equity awards
Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

(1) The prior period has been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

$

LIMBACH HOLDINGS, INC.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
Note 1 – Organization and Plan of Business Operations
Limbach Holdings, Inc. (the “Company” or “we”) is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements include the accounts of Limbach Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, including Limbach Holdings LLC (“LHLLC”), Limbach Facility Services LLC
(“LFS”), Limbach Company LLC, Limbach Company LP, Harper Limbach LLC (“Harper”) and Harper Limbach Construction LLC.
We operate our business in two segments, (i) Construction, in which we generally manage large construction or renovation projects that involve primarily heating, ventilation,
and air conditioning (“HVAC”), plumbing or electrical services, and (ii) Service, in which we provide maintenance or service primarily on HVAC, plumbing or electrical
systems. This work is primarily performed under fixed price, modified fixed price, and time and material contracts over periods of typically less than two years. The Company’s
customers operate in several different industries, including healthcare, education, government, commercial, manufacturing, mission critical, entertainment, and leisure. The
Company operates primarily in the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic, Southeast, Midwest, and Southwestern regions of the United States.
The Company was originally incorporated as a special purpose acquisition company, formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, equity interest exchange, asset acquisition,
stock purchase, reorganization or similar business combination with one or more businesses. On July 20, 2016, the Company consummated a business combination (the
“Business Combination”) whereby it acquired all of the outstanding equity of LHLLC. In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, the Company changed its
name from 1347 Capital Corp. (“1347 Capital”) to Limbach Holdings, Inc.
Emerging Growth Company
Section 102(b)(1) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised
financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, declared effective
or do not have a class of securities registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) are required to comply with the new or revised
financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to nonemerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a
standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised
standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of the Company’s financial statements with another public company,
which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period, difficult or impossible because of
the potential differences in accounting standards used.
Note 2 – Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
Condensed Financial Statements
The accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and
Rule 8-03 of Regulation S-X for smaller reporting companies. Consequently, certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to those rules and regulations,
although the Company believes that the disclosures made are adequate to make the information not misleading. Readers of this report should refer to the consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto included in our latest Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on April 15, 2019.
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Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The accompanying interim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations, Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’
Equity and Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the periods presented are unaudited. Also, within the notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements, we have included unaudited information for these interim periods. These unaudited interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP. In our opinion, the accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements contain all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for
a fair statement of the Company’s financial position as of June 30, 2019, its results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, and its cash flows for the six
months ended June 30, 2019. The results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2019.
The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2018 was derived from our audited financial statements filed with the SEC on April 15, 2019, but is presented
as condensed and does not contain all of the footnote disclosures from the annual financial statements.
Revenues and Cost Recognition
Revenues from fixed price and modified fixed price contracts are recognized on the percentage-of-completion method, measured by the relationship of total cost incurred to total
estimated contract costs (cost-to-cost method). Contract revenue for long-term construction contracts is based upon management’s estimates of contract values at completion,
including revenue for additional work on which the contract value has not been finalized (claims and unapproved change orders) but is considered probable. Changes in job
performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to
estimated costs and income, and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined.
Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recognized in the period in which such losses are determined.
Contract costs include direct labor, material, and subcontractor costs, and those indirect costs related to contract performance, such as indirect labor, supplies, tools, repairs,
depreciation, and insurance. Total estimated contract costs are based upon management’s current estimate of total costs at completion.
There are two basic types of service contracts: fixed price service contracts which are signed in advance for maintenance, repair and retrofit work over a period of typically one
year, and service contracts not signed in advance for similar maintenance, repair and retrofit work performed on an as-needed basis. Fixed price service contracts are generally
performed evenly over the contract period, and accordingly, revenue is recognized on a pro rata basis over the life of the contract. Revenues derived from other service contracts
are recognized when the services are performed. Expenses related to all service contracts are recognized as services are provided.
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements arise when revenues have been
recognized but the amounts cannot be billed under the terms of the contracts. Also included in costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts are
amounts the Company seeks or will seek to collect from customers or others for errors or changes in contract specifications or design, contract change orders in dispute or
unapproved as to scope and price, or other customer-related causes of unanticipated additional contract costs (claims and unapproved change orders). Claims and unapproved
change orders are recorded at estimated net realizable value when realization is probable and can be reasonably estimated. No profit is recognized on the construction costs
incurred in connection with claim amounts. Claims and unapproved change orders made by the Company may involve negotiation and, in rare cases, litigation. Claims and
unapproved change orders involve the use of estimates, and it is reasonably possible that revisions to the estimated recoverable amounts of recorded claims and unapproved
change orders may be made in the near term. Claims against the Company are recognized when a loss is considered probable and amounts are reasonably determinable. Billings
in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts represent billings in excess of revenues recognized.
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In accordance with industry practice, we classify as current all assets and liabilities relating to the performance of contracts. The terms of our contracts generally range from six
months to two years.
Selling, general, and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Bidding and proposal costs are also recognized as an expense in the period in which such amounts
are incurred.
Reclassifications and Adjustments
Certain reclassifications of prior periods’ data have been made to conform to the current period presentation. The Company reclassified this prior period data as a result of the
retrospective adoption on January 1, 2019 of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-18, “Statement of Cash Flows:
Restricted Cash.”
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets that sum to
the total of the same amounts shown in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows:
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

June 30, 2019
1,011
113
$
1,124
$

December 31, 2018
$
1,619
113
$
1,732

June 30, 2018
256
113
$
369
$

December 31, 2017
$
626
113
$
739

Note 3 – Accounting Standards
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
The effective dates shown in the following pronouncements are private company effective dates, based upon the Company’s election to conform to private company effective
dates based on the relief provided to Emerging Growth Companies (“EGC”) under the JOBS Act.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers—Topic 606,” which supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in FASB
Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) 605. The new guidance established principles for reporting revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with
customers. This new revenue recognition standard will replace all of the recognition guidance within GAAP. This guidance was deferred by ASU 2015-14, “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the effective date, issued by the FASB in August 2015,” which deferred the effective date of ASU 2014-09 from annual and
interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017 to annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08,
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Principal versus Agent Considerations,” which further clarifies the implementation guidance in ASU 2014-09. In April 2016, the
FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing,” to expand the guidance on identifying
performance obligations and licensing within ASU 2014-09. In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12, “Revenues from Contracts with Customers: Narrow-Scope
Improvements and Practical Expedients,” which amends the guidance in the new revenue standard on collectability, noncash consideration, presentation of sales tax, and
transition. The amendments are intended to address implementation issues that were raised by stakeholders and provide additional practical expedients to reduce the cost and
complexity of applying the new revenue standard. The guidance can be applied on a full retrospective or modified retrospective basis whereby the entity records a cumulative
effect of initially applying this update at the date of initial application. In December 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-20, “Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers” intended to clarify the codification or to correct unintended application of the guidance which clarifies the definition of loan
guarantee fees, what should be considered in contract costs impairment testing, a requirement that provisions for losses on construction-type and production-type contracts be
determined at the least at the contract level, exclusion of insurance contracts from scope, specific disclosures regarding remaining performance obligations, disclosure of priorperiod performance obligations and gives an example of contract modifications. These standards are required to be implemented by the Company for its fiscal year 2019
Consolidated Financial Statements and for interim periods beginning in fiscal year 2020.
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We have made progress in evaluating the impact of the new pronouncement on our contracts, including identifying potential differences that will result from applying the new
guidance. Retention related balances will be presented as a separate contract asset instead of a component of accounts receivable on the face of the balance sheet. Management
will evaluate the nature of warranties provided to the Company’s customers to determine if such warranties represent an assurance-type or service-type warranty, which requires
identification and treatment as a separate performance obligation. For purposes of revenue recognition, such warranties are currently included in total estimated project costs.
Further, management intends to develop a process for calculating the balance of remaining unsatisfied performance obligations, which is a required disclosure under the new
revenue recognition standard that may differ from the historical calculation of backlog, although we intend to continue disclosing backlog in our future SEC filings. We expect
to separately present contract assets and liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. Contract assets will include amounts due under contractual retainage provisions, unbilled
receivables, and costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings. Contract liabilities will include provisions for losses and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings.
We are currently drafting revised accounting policies and evaluating the enhanced disclosure requirements on our business processes, controls and systems.
Using the modified retrospective method, we anticipate adopting this standard for fiscal year 2019 and for interim periods beginning in fiscal year 2020. As a result of the
review of our various types of revenue arrangements, we do not anticipate that the adoption will have a material impact on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements,
particularly as it relates to revenues generated from long-term construction, service maintenance, and time and materials contracts.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” ASU 2016-02 provides an approach for classifying leases as either finance leases or operating
leases. For either classification, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability will be required to be recognized, unless the term of the lease is one year or less. The guidance is
required to be applied using a modified retrospective approach which includes optional practical expedients. In January 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-01, “Leases
(Topic 842),” that clarified the standard by providing a practical expedient in transition to not evaluate existing or expired land easements under Topic 842 that were not
previously accounted for as leases under Topic 840. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-10, “Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases,” to correct inconsistencies
in the guidance and clarify how to apply certain provisions of the lease standards. In addition, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842): Targeted
Improvements,” intended to reduce costs and ease implementation of the leases standard for financial statement preparers by providing a new transition method and a practical
expedient for separating components of a contract. Under the new transition method, an entity initially applies the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a
cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. Because the Company’s EGC status is set to expire on December 31, 2019,
the Company is expected to comply with this standard beginning in the fourth quarter of 2019. Earlier application is permitted. During the second quarter of 2019, we engaged a
service provider to assist us in evaluating the impact of the new pronouncement. As management has not yet commenced its analysis of these standards, it therefore cannot
estimate the impact of their adoption on the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, “Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash” to address diversity in practice in the classification and presentation of changes
in restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. The guidance is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and for interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. If an entity early adopts the amendments in an interim period,
any adjustments should be reflected as of the beginning of the year that includes that interim period. An entity that elects early adoption must adopt all of the amendments in the
same period. The amendments should be applied using a retrospective transition method to each period presented. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted the provisions of
ASU 2016-18 using the retrospective transition method. As a result, changes in restricted cash are now included in the beginning of period and end of period total cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash amounts. See Note 2 for further details.
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In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business” to assist entities with evaluating whether
transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The amendments provide a screen to determine when a set of assets and activities is
not a business. If the screen is not met, the amendments require further consideration of inputs, substantive processes and outputs to determine whether the transaction is an
acquisition of a business. This guidance is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and for interim periods within annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The amendments in this update are to be applied prospectively on or after the effective date. The adoption of this standard is not
anticipated to have a material impact on the previously issued Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles–Goodwill and Other - Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment” to address the cost and complexity of the
goodwill impairment test which resulted in the elimination of Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Step 2 measured a goodwill impairment loss by comparing the implied
fair value of goodwill by assigning fair value of a reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if that reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. Rather, the
Company would be required to do its annual and interim goodwill impairment tests by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount and to recognize
an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount is greater than the reporting unit’s fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that
reporting unit. Income tax effects measuring the goodwill impairment loss, if applicable, from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying amount on the reporting unit should
also be considered. The guidance is effective for financial statements issued for the Company’s annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The amendments in this
update are to be applied on a prospective basis. Management adopted this standard in the first quarter of 2019 and will apply the guidance within the standard when performing
the Company’s annual or any interim impairment tests. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, “Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Non-employee Share-Based Accounting,” to simplify the
accounting for share-based payment transactions to non-employees for goods and services by aligning it with the guidance for share-based payments to employees. Because the
Company’s EGC status is set to expire on December 31, 2019, unless other disqualifying provisions apply prior to that date (see Item 2. JOBS Act), the Company is expected to
comply with this standard beginning the fourth quarter of 2019. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than an entity’s adoption date of ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers—Topic 606.” The adoption of this standard is expected to have no material impact on the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement,” to improve the effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to financial statements related to recurring or nonrecurring fair value measurements by removing
amounts and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the policy for timing of transfers between levels, and the valuation processes for
Level 3 fair value measurements. The new standard requires disclosure of the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value
measurements. The amendments in this update are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019.
The adoption of this standard only impacts disclosure; therefore, the Company does not expect that it will have an impact on the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Note 4 – Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable and the allowance for doubtful accounts are comprised of the following:
(in thousands)
Accounts receivable
Retainage
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable, net

June 30, 2019
111,803
31,236
(278)
$
142,761
$
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December 31, 2018
$
106,063
29,867
(243)
$
135,687

Note 5 – Contracts in Progress
(in thousands)
Revenue earned on uncompleted contracts
Less: Billings to date
Net underbilling (overbilling)

June 30, 2019
765,794
(776,300 )
$
(10,506)

December 31, 2018
$
731,923
(750,068 )
(18,145)

$

$

$

The above is reflected in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billing on uncompleted contracts
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Net underbilling (overbilling)

$

36,030
(46,536)
(10,506)

$

32,698
(50,843)
(18,145)

Accounts payable includes retainage due to subcontractors totaling $11.7 million and $13.0 million as of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
The Company has asserted claims and unapproved change orders on certain construction projects. These occur typically as a result of scope changes and project delays.
Management continually evaluates these items and estimates the recoverable amounts and, if significant, these recoverability estimates are evaluated to determine the net
realizable value. If additional amounts are recovered, additional contract revenue would be recognized.
For the three months ended June 30, 2019, we recorded revisions in our contract estimates for certain construction and service projects. For individual projects with revisions
having a material gross profit impact, this resulted in gross profit write ups totaling $0.3 million on one construction project and $0.3 million on one service project. We also
recorded revisions in contract estimates that resulted in project write downs totaling $1.9 million on three construction projects for our Southern California region.
For the six months ended June 30, 2019, we recorded revisions in our contract estimates for certain construction and service projects. For individual construction projects with
revisions having a material gross profit impact, this resulted in gross profit write ups totaling $3.0 million on six projects, including three projects totaling $1.0 million for our
Mid-Atlantic region. One of these project write ups in the amount of $1.4 million resulted from our settlement of a significant Michigan project. We also recorded revisions in
contract estimates that resulted in project write downs totaling $3.5 million on seven projects, including four projects totaling $2.2 million in our Southern California region and
one project for $0.5 million in our Mid-Atlantic region. Revisions in our contract estimates on one service project resulted in a gross profit write up of $0.3 million on a MidAtlantic project during this period and one Southern California project resulted in a gross profit write down of $0.3 million.
Note 6 – Goodwill and Intangibles
Goodwill and intangible assets consist of the following:
Gross
carrying
amount

(in thousands)
June 30, 2019
Amortized intangible assets:
Backlog – Construction
Customer Relationships – Service
Favorable Leasehold Interests
Total amortized intangible assets
Unamortized intangible assets:
Trade Name
Total unamortized intangible assets
Total amortized and unamortized assets, excluding goodwill
Goodwill

$

$
$

12

4,830
4,710
530
10,070
9,960
9,960
20,030
10,488

Accumulated
amortization
$

$
$

Net intangible
assets

(4,830)
(2,397)
(200)
(7,427)
(7,427 )
-

$

$
$

2,313
330
2,643
9,960
9,960
12,603
10,488

Gross
carrying
amount

(in thousands)
December 31, 2018
Amortized intangible assets:
Backlog – Construction
Customer Relationships – Service
Favorable Leasehold Interests
Total amortized intangible assets
Unamortized intangible assets:
Trade Name
Total unamortized intangible assets
Total amortized and unamortized assets, excluding goodwill
Goodwill

$

$
$

4,830
4,710
530
10,070
9,960
9,960
20,030
10,488

Accumulated
amortization
$

$
$

Net intangible
assets

(4,830)
(2,081)
(166)
(7,077)
(7,077 )
-

$

$
$

2,629
364
2,993
9,960
9,960
12,953
10,488

The definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over the period the Company expects to receive the related economic benefit, which for customer relationships is based upon
estimated future net cash inflows. The Company has previously determined that its trade name has an indefinite useful life. The Limbach trade name has been in existence since
the Company’s founding in 1901 and is an established brand within the construction industry.
Total amortization expense for these amortizable intangible assets was $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and $0.3 million for the three months ended June
30, 2018. Total amortization expense for these amortizable intangible assets was $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and $0.7 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2018. The Company did not recognize any impairment charges for the three or six months ended June 30, 2019 or June 30, 2018.
Note 7 – Debt
Long-term debt consists of the following obligations as of:
(in thousands)
Credit Agreement – revolver(1)
Bridge Term Loan – term loan payable in quarterly installments of principal, plus interest through April 2019(1)
Credit Agreement – term loan payable in quarterly installments of principal, plus interest through March 2020(1)
2019 Revolving Credit Facility
2019 Refinancing Term Loan – term loan payable in quarterly installments of principal, (commencing in September 2020) plus
interest through April 2022
Long-term portion of 2019 Refinancing Term Loan embedded derivative
Capital leases – collateralized by vehicles, payable in monthly installments of principal, plus interest ranging from 4.95% to 6.1%
through 2023
Total debt
Less - Current portion of long-term debt
Less - Unamortized discount and debt issuance costs
Long-term debt
(1)

June 30,
2019
$

December 31,
2018
-

$

40,000
177

$

5,587
45,764
(2,173)
(3,608 )
39,983

7,736
14,335
-

$

5,145
27,216
(3,141)
(461)
23,614

On April 12, 2019, the Company entered into the Refinancing Agreements (as defined below) and used the net proceeds to repay its existing indebtedness under the
Credit Agreement (as defined below).
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Credit Agreement
Effective July 20, 2016, LFS, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Credit Agreement (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement consisted of a
$25.0 million revolving line of credit (the “Credit Agreement Revolver”) and a $24.0 million term loan (the “Credit Agreement Term Loan”), both with a maturity date of July
20, 2021. The Credit Agreement was collateralized by substantially all of the assets of LFS and its subsidiaries. Principal payments of $750,000 on the term loan were due
quarterly through June 30, 2018. Principal payments of $900,000 were due at the end of subsequent quarters through maturity of the loan, with any remaining amounts due at
maturity. Outstanding borrowings on both the term loan and the revolving line of credit bore interest at either the Base Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) or LIBOR (as
defined in the Credit Agreement), plus the applicable additional margin, payable monthly.
Mandatory prepayments were required upon the occurrence of certain events, including, among other things and subject to certain exceptions, equity issuances, changes of
control of the Company, certain debt issuances, assets sales and excess cash flow. The Company could voluntarily prepay the loans at any time subject to the limitations set
forth in the Credit Agreement.
The Credit Agreement included restrictions on, among other things and subject to certain exceptions, the Company and its subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional indebtedness,
pay dividends or make other distributions, redeem or purchase capital stock, make investments and loans and enter into certain transactions, including selling assets, engaging in
mergers or acquisitions and entering into transactions with affiliates.
On January 12, 2018, LFS and LHLLC entered into the Second Amendment and Limited Waiver to the Credit Agreement (the “Second Amendment and Limited Waiver”) with
the lenders party thereto and Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent. The Second Amendment and Limited Waiver provided for a new term loan under the Credit Agreement
in the aggregate principal amount of $10.0 million (the “Bridge Term Loan”), the proceeds of which were used to repurchase the Company’s remaining 280,000 shares of Class
A Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $9.1 million plus accrued but unpaid dividends of $0.9 million.
Loans under the Credit Agreement bore interest, at the Borrower’s option, at either Adjusted LIBOR (“Eurodollar”) or a Base Rate, in each case, plus an applicable margin.
With respect to the Bridge Term Loan, from January 12, 2018 to, but excluding, July 12, 2018 (the six-month anniversary of the loan), the applicable margin with respect to any
Base Rate loans was 4.00% per annum and with respect to any Eurodollar loan was 5.00% per annum. From July 12, 2018 to, but excluding, the 12-month anniversary thereof,
the applicable margin with respect to any Base Rate loan was 4.50% per annum and with respect to any Eurodollar loan was 5.50% per annum. From the 12-month anniversary
of January 12, 2018 and all times thereafter, the applicable margin with respect to any Base Rate loan was 5.00% per annum and with respect to a Eurodollar loan was 6.00%
per annum.
The borrower was required to make principal payments on the Bridge Term Loan in the amount of $250,000 on the last business day of March, June, September and December
of each year, commencing on March 31, 2018. The Bridge Term Loan was to mature on April 12, 2019; however, the balance was refinanced under the 2019 Refinancing
Agreements (as defined below) prior to maturity. The Bridge Term Loan was guaranteed by the same Guarantors and secured (on a pari passu basis) by the same Collateral as
the loans under the Credit Agreement.
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On March 21, 2018, the Company, LFS and LHLLC entered into the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement (the “Third Amendment”) with the lenders party thereto and Fifth
Third Bank, as administrative agent and L/C Issuer. The Third Amendment provided for an increase in the amount that could be drawn against the Credit Agreement Revolver
for the issuances of letters of credit from $5.0 million to $8.0 million, modified the definition of EBITDA to include certain one-time costs and non-cash charges and joined the
Company as a guarantor under the Credit Agreement and related loan documents.
On May 15, 2018, the Company, LFS and LHLLC entered into the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the “Fourth Amendment and Limited
Waiver”) with the lenders party thereto and Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent and L/C Issuer. The Fourth Amendment and Limited Waiver amended the existing
covenants of the Credit Agreement to include additional information covenants, such as work in process reports and monthly cash flow schedules. In addition, the Fourth
Amendment and Limited Waiver required a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.15 for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2018.
On August 13, 2018, the Company, LFS and LHLLC entered into the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the “Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver”)
with the lenders party thereto and Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent and L/C Issuer. The Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver amended the existing covenants of the
Credit Agreement and required the Company to engage a consultant for the purposes of making recommendations as to methods of the Company’s corporate and Mid-Atlantic’s
operations and controls. In addition, the Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver required a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.15 for the fiscal quarter ended March 30,
2019 and not less than 1.25 at all times thereafter.
During the third quarter of 2018, the Company was not in compliance with the then-existing debt covenants. As a result of these violations, the lenders requested that the
Company seek alternative financing. On November 30, 2018, the Company, LFS and LHLLC entered into a Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the
“Sixth Amendment and Limited Waiver”) with the lenders party thereto and Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent and L/C Issuer, pursuant to which the administrative
agent and certain lenders thereto agreed to a waiver of the Company’s non-compliance with the senior leverage and fixed charge coverage ratio requirements under the Credit
Agreement. In addition, the Sixth Amendment and Limited Waiver amended the Credit Agreement to, among other things, (i) reduce the Lenders’ $25.0 million commitment
under the Company’s Credit Agreement Revolver to $22.5 million on December 31, 2018 and $20.0 million on January 31, 2019, (ii) accelerate the maturity date for the Credit
Agreement revolver and the Credit Agreement Term Loan facility from July 20, 2021 to March 31, 2020, and (iii) require that certain actions be taken in connection with the
refinancing of the Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement by certain scheduled dates.
The Credit Agreement, as amended, required the Company to comply with certain financial performance covenants including the following: (1) a minimum EBITDA of $6.5
million for the fourth quarter of 2018, (2) a fixed charge coverage ratio not less than 1.10 for each fiscal quarter ending on or after March 31, 2019 (which was decreased from
1.15 for the fiscal quarters ending on June 30, 2018 through December 31, 2018) and (3) unfinanced capital expenditures not to exceed $1.0 million for each fiscal quarter
ending March 31, 2019, June 30, 2019, and September 30, 2019; no unfinanced capital expenditures for the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2019 and total unfinanced
capital expenditures not to exceed $3.0 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019; and no unfinanced capital expenditures where the Company fails to achieve the
required fixed charge coverage ratio for such date.
The equity interests of the Company’s subsidiaries were pledged as security for the obligations under the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement included customary events of
default, including, among other items, payment defaults, cross-defaults to other indebtedness, a change of control default and events of default with respect to certain material
agreements. Additionally, with respect to the Company, an event of default was deemed to have occurred if the Company’s securities ceased to be registered with the SEC
pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act. In case of an event of default, the administrative agent was entitled to, among other things, accelerated payment of amounts due
under the Credit Agreement, foreclose on the equity of the Company’s subsidiaries, and exercise all rights of a secured creditor on behalf of the lenders.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with the financial and other covenants related to the Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2018, the Company had
irrevocable letters of credit in the amount of $3.4 million with its lender to secure obligations under its self-insurance program.
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The additional margin applied to both the Credit Agreement revolver and Credit Agreement term loan is determined based on levels achieved under the Company’s senior
leverage ratio covenant, which reflects the ratio of indebtedness divided by EBITDA for the most recently ended four quarters.
The following is a summary of the additional margin and commitment fees payable on the prior revolving credit commitment:
Level
I
II
III
IV

Additional Margin for
Additional Margin for
Base Rate loans
Libor Rate loans
Commitment Fee
3.00%
4.00%
0.50%
2.75%
3.75%
0.50%
2.50%
3.50%
0.50%
2.25%
3.25%
0.50%

Senior Leverage Ratio
Greater than or equal to 2.50 to 1.00
Less than 2.50 to 1.00, but greater than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00
Less than 2.00 to 1.00, but greater than or equal to 1.50 to 1.00
Less than 1.50 to 1.00

The Company refinanced its Credit Agreement Revolver on April 12, 2019 under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement, described below and therefore had no amounts outstanding
under its Credit Agreement at June 30, 2019.
2019 Refinancing Agreement
On April 12, 2019 (the “Refinancing Closing Date”), LFS entered into a financing agreement (the “2019 Refinancing Agreement”) with the lenders thereto and Cortland Capital
Market Services LLC, as collateral agent and administrative agent and CB Agent Services LLC, as origination agent (“CB”). The 2019 Refinancing Agreement consists of (i) a
$40.0 million term loan (the “2019 Refinancing Term Loan”) and (ii) a new $25.0 million multi-draw delayed draw term loan (the “2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan” and,
collectively with the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan, the “2019 Term Loans”). Proceeds from the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan were used to repay the then existing Credit
Agreement, to pay related fees and expenses thereof and to fund working capital of the Borrowers (defined below). Proceeds of the 2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan will be used
to fund permitted acquisitions under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement and related fees and expenses in connection therewith.
LFS, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and each of its subsidiaries are borrowers (the “Borrowers”) under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement. In addition, the 2019
Refinancing Agreement is guaranteed by the Company and LHLLC (each, a “Guarantor”, and together with the Borrowers, the “Loan Parties”).
The 2019 Refinancing Agreement is secured by a first-priority lien on the real property of the Loan Parties and a second-priority lien on substantially all other assets of the
Loan Parties, behind the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement (as defined below). The respective lien priorities of the 2019 Refinancing Agreement and the 2019 ABL Credit
Agreement are governed by an intercreditor agreement.
2019 Refinancing Agreement - Interest Rates and Fees
The interest rate on borrowings under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement is, at the Borrowers’ option, either LIBOR (with a 2.00% floor) plus 8.00% or a base rate (with a 3.00%
minimum) plus 7.00%. At June 30, 2019, the interest rate in effect on the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan was 10.54%.
2019 Refinancing Agreement - Other Terms and Conditions
The 2019 Refinancing Agreement matures on April 12, 2022, subject to adjustment as described therein. Required amortization is $1.0 million per quarter commencing with the
fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2020. There is an unused line fee of 2.0% per annum on the undrawn portion of the 2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan, and there is a makewhole premium on prepayments made prior to the 19-month anniversary of the Refinancing Closing Date. This make-whole provision guarantees that the Company will pay no
less than 18 months’ applicable interest to the lenders under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement.
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The 2019 Refinancing Agreement contains representations and warranties, and covenants which are customary for debt facilities of this type. Unless the Required Lenders (as
defined in the 2019 Refinancing Agreement) otherwise consent in writing, the covenants limit the ability of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries to, among other things,
(i) incur additional indebtedness or issue preferred stock, (ii) pay dividends or make distributions to the Company’s stockholders, (iii) purchase or redeem the Company’s equity
interests, (iv) make investments, (v) create liens on their assets, (vi) enter into transactions with the Company’s affiliates, (vii) sell assets and (viii) merge or consolidate with, or
dispose of substantially all of the Company’s assets to, other companies.
In addition, the 2019 Refinancing Agreement includes customary events of default and other provisions that could require all amounts due thereunder to become immediately
due and payable, either automatically or at the option of the lenders, if the Company fails to comply with the terms of the 2019 Refinancing Agreement or if other customary
events occur.
Furthermore, the 2019 Refinancing Agreement also contains two financial maintenance covenants for the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan, including a requirement to have
sufficient collateral coverage of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 2019 Refinancing Term Loans and for the total leverage ratio of the Company and its
Subsidiaries not to exceed an amount beginning at 4.25 to 1.00 through June 30, 2019, and stepping down to 2.00 to 1.00 effective July 1, 2021. From July 1, 2019 through
September 30, 2019, the Total Leverage Ratio may not exceed 4.00 to 1.00. The 2019 Refinancing Agreement contains a post-closing covenant requiring the remediation of the
Company’s material weakness, as described in Item 9A of its 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K, no later than December 31, 2020 and to provide updates as to the progress of
such remediation, provided that, if such remediation has not been completed on or prior to December 31, 2019, (x) the Company shall be required to pay the post-closing fee
pursuant to the terms of the Origination Agent Fee Letter (as defined in the 2019 Refinancing Agreement) and (y) the applicable margin shall be increased by 1.00 % per annum
for the period from January 1, 2020 until the date at which the material weakness is no longer disclosed or required to be disclosed in the Company’s SEC filings or audited
financial statements of the Company or related auditor’s reports.
2019 Refinancing Agreement – CB Warrants
In connection with the 2019 Refinancing Agreement, on the Refinancing Closing Date, the Company issued to CB and the other lenders under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement
warrants (the “CB Warrants”) to purchase up to a maximum of 263,314 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of $7.63 per share subject to certain
adjustments, including for stock dividends, stock splits or reclassifications. The actual number of shares of common stock into which the CB Warrants will be exercisable at any
given time will be equal to: (i) the product of (x) the number of shares equal to 2% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of common stock on the Refinancing
Closing Date on a fully diluted basis and (y) the percentage of the total 2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan made as of the exercise date, minus (ii) the number of shares previously
issued under the CB Warrants. As of the Refinancing Closing Date and June 30, 2019, no amounts had been drawn on the 2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan, so no portion of the
CB Warrants were exercisable. The CB Warrants may be exercised for cash or on a “cashless basis,” subject to certain adjustments, at any time after the Refinancing Closing
Date until the expiration of such warrant at 5:00 p.m., New York time, on the earlier of (i) the five (5) year anniversary of the Refinancing Closing Date, or (ii) the liquidation
of the Company.
Accounting for the 2019 Term Loans and CB Warrants
The CB Warrants represent a freestanding financial instrument that is classified as a liability because the CB Warrants meet the definition of a derivative instrument that does
not meet the equity scope exception (i.e., the CB Warrants are not indexed to the entity’s own equity). In addition, the material weakness penalty described above was evaluated
as an embedded derivative liability and bifurcated from the 2019 Term Loans as it represents a non-credit related embedded feature that provides for net settlement. Both the
CB Warrants liability and the embedded derivative liability are required to be initially and subsequently measured at fair value. The initial fair values of the CB Warrants
liability and the embedded derivative liability approximated $0.9 million and $0.4 million, respectively, on the Refinancing Closing Date. The CB Warrants liability is included
in other long-term liabilities. The current portion of the embedded derivative liability of $0.2 million is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and the longterm portion of $0.2 million is included in long-term debt. The Company estimated these fair values by using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model and a probabilityweighted discounted cash flow approach, respectively.
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The proceeds for the 2019 Term Loan were first allocated to the CB Warrants liability and embedded derivative liability based on their respective fair values with a
corresponding amount of $1.3 million recorded as a debt discount to the 2019 Term Loans. In addition, the Company incurred approximately $2.5 million of debt issuance costs
for the 2019 Term Loans that have also been recorded as a debt discount. The combined debt discount from the CB Warrants liability, embedded derivative liability and the
debt issuance costs is being amortized into interest expense over the term of the 2019 Term Loans using the effective interest method. The Company recorded interest expense
for the amortization of the CB Warrants liability and embedded derivative debt discounts of $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and recorded an additional
$0.2 million of interest expense for the amortization of the debt issuance costs for the three months ended June 30, 2019.
The Company remeasured the fair value of the CB Warrants liability and embedded derivative liability as of June 30, 2019 and recorded any adjustments as other income
(expense). The Company estimated these fair values by using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model and a probability-weighted discounted cash flow approach,
respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2019, the Company recorded other expense of approximately $0.1 million and $0 to reflect the change in fair values of the CB
Warrants liability and the embedded derivative liability, respectively.
2019 ABL Credit Agreement
On the Refinancing Closing Date, LFS also entered into a financing agreement with the lenders thereto and Citizens Bank, N.A., as collateral agent, administrative agent and
origination agent (the “2019 ABL Credit Agreement” and, together with the 2019 Refinancing Agreement, the “Refinancing Agreements”). The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement
consists of a $15.0 million revolving credit facility (the “2019 Revolving Credit Facility”). Proceeds of the 2019 Revolving Credit Facility may be used for general corporate
purposes. On the Refinancing Closing Date, the Company had nothing drawn on the ABL Credit Agreement and $14.0 million of available borrowing capacity thereunder (net
of a $1.0 million reserve imposed by the lender).
The Borrowers and Guarantors under the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement are the same as under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement.
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement is secured by a second-priority lien on the real property of the Loan Parties (behind the 2019 Refinancing Agreement) and a first-priority lien
on substantially all other assets of the Loan Parties.
2019 ABL Credit Agreement - Interest Rates and Fees
The interest rate on borrowings under the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement is, at the Borrowers’ option, either LIBOR (with a 2.0% floor) plus an applicable margin ranging from
3.00% to 3.50% or a base rate (with a 3.0% minimum) plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.00% to 2.50%.
2019 ABL Credit Agreement - Other Terms and Conditions
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement matures on April 12, 2022. There is an unused line fee ranging from 0.250% to 0.375% per annum on undrawn amounts.
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement contains representations and warranties, and covenants which are customary for debt facilities of this type. Unless the Required Lenders
otherwise consent in writing, the covenants limit the ability of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries to, among other things, to (i) incur additional indebtedness or issue
preferred stock, (ii) pay dividends or make distributions to the Company’s stockholders, (iii) purchase or redeem the Company’s equity interests, (iv) make investments, (v)
create liens on their assets, (vi) enter into transactions with the Company’s affiliates, (vii) sell assets and (viii) merge or consolidate with, or dispose of substantially all of the
Company’s assets to, other companies.
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement includes customary events of default and other provisions that could require all amounts due thereunder to become immediately due and
payable, either automatically or at the option of the lenders, if the Company fails to comply with the terms of the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement or if other customary events
occur.
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement also contains a financial maintenance covenant for the 2019 Revolving Credit Facility, which is a requirement for the total leverage ratio of
the Company and its Subsidiaries not to exceed an amount beginning at 4.00 to 1.00 through September 30, 2019, and stepping down to 1.75 to 1.00 effective July 1, 2021.
18

Accounting for the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement
As of June 30, 2019, the Company had nothing drawn on the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement. In addition, the Company incurred approximately $0.9 million of debt issuance costs
for the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement that have been recorded as a non-current deferred asset. The deferred asset is being amortized into interest expense over the term of the
2019 Term ABL Credit Agreement using the effective interest method. The Company recorded interest expense of $0.1 million for the amortization the debt issuance costs for
the three months ended June 30, 2019.
Note 8 – Equity
The Company’s second amended and restated certificate of incorporation currently authorizes the issuance of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001, and
1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001.
At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had outstanding warrants exercisable for 4,576,799 shares of common stock, consisting of: (i) 4,600,000 warrants
issued as part of units in its initial public offering, each of which is exercisable for one-half of one share of common stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per whole share
(“Public Warrants”); (ii) 198,000 warrants, each exercisable for one-half of one share of common stock at an exercise price of $5.75 per half share ($11.50 per whole share)
(“Sponsor Warrants”); (iii) 600,000 warrants, each exercisable for one share of common stock at an exercise price of $15.00 per share (“$15 Exercise Price Warrants”); (iv)
631,119 warrants, each exercisable for one share of common stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share (“Merger Warrants”); and (v) 946,680 warrants, each exercisable for
one share of common stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share (“Additional Merger Warrants”).
The Public Warrants, Sponsor Warrants and $15 Exercise Price Warrants were issued under a warrant agreement dated July 15, 2014, between Continental Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, as warrant agent, and the Company. The Merger Warrants and Additional Merger Warrants were issued to the sellers of LHLLC. On January 8, 2018, the
Company issued 10,627 shares of common stock in connection with the cashless exercise of 49,604 Additional Merger Warrants and 33,069 Merger Warrants.
On July 21, 2014, a total of 300,000 Unit Purchase Options (“UPOs”) were issued by 1347 Capital to a representative of the underwriter and its designees. In December 2016,
the Company issued 121,173 shares of common stock in connection with the cashless exercise of 282,900 of these UPOs. At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, a total of
17,100 UPOs were outstanding and were exercisable, either for cash or on a cashless basis, through July 21, 2019. Each UPO consisted of one share of common stock, one right
to purchase one-tenth of one share of common stock and one warrant to purchase one-half of one share of common stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per full share.
In August 2017, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company commenced the granting of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) under the Limbach
Holdings, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan to certain executive officers, non-executive employees and non-employee directors of the Company in the forms of an inaugural RSU
award to executives (the “Inaugural RSU Award”), an annual long-term incentive RSU award (the “LTI RSU Award”), and an RSU award to non-employee directors
(“Director RSU Award”). During the second quarter of 2019, the Board of Directors approved an additional 350,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as authorized and
reserved for issuance under this plan, making a total of 1,150,000 shares available under this plan. The Company granted additional RSU awards during the first half of 2019.
See Note 17 – Management Incentive Plans.
Note 9 – Cumulative Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
In connection with the Business Combination, the Company issued 400,000 shares of Class A preferred stock (the “Preferred Stock”) on July 20, 2016. Each share of Preferred
Stock was convertible (at the holder’s election) into two shares of the Company’s common stock (as may be adjusted for any stock splits, reverse stock splits or similar
transactions), representing a conversion price of $12.50 per share; provided, that such conversion was in compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements. The Preferred Stock
ranked senior to all classes and series of outstanding capital stock. The Company agreed to not issue any other shares of capital stock that ranked senior or pari passu to the
Preferred Stock while the Preferred Stock was outstanding, unless at least 30% of the proceeds from such issuance were used to redeem Preferred Stock. The holders of the
Preferred Stock were, in priority to any other class or series of capital stock, entitled to receive, as and when declared by the board of directors fixed, cumulative, preferential
dividends at a rate of: (i) 8% per annum in years one through three from issuance; (ii) 10% per annum in years four through five from issuance; and (iii) 12% per annum
thereafter, payable in equal quarterly installments. Dividends on outstanding Preferred Stock accrued day to day from the date of issuance of the Preferred Stock. No dividends
in excess of the accrued and unpaid preferred yield in respect of the Preferred Stock were permitted.
19

On July 14, 2017, the Company entered into the Preferred Stock Repurchase Agreement with 1347 Investors pursuant to which (a) the Company repurchased from 1347
Investors a total of 120,000 shares of the Preferred Stock for an aggregate sum of $4.1 million in cash, (b) for a period of six months after such repurchase, the Company had
the right to repurchase from 1347 Investors, in one or more transactions, all or a portion of the remaining 280,000 shares of Preferred Stock owned by 1347 Investors for a
purchase price equal to 130% of the liquidation value per share plus 130% of any and all accrued but unpaid dividends thereon as of the date of closing of the purchase of such
shares and (c) 1347 Investors would not, with respect to the 509,500 shares of common stock held in escrow pursuant to its lock-up arrangement that expired on July 20, 2017,
sell or otherwise transfer such shares of common stock during the period from such expiration through October 20, 2017. This repurchase was funded through permitted
borrowings under the Company’s Credit Agreement revolving credit facility. The Company retired the repurchased shares.
As discussed in Note 7 – Debt, on January 12, 2018, the Company exercised its repurchase right with respect to the remaining 280,000 shares of Preferred Stock using the
proceeds from the Bridge Term Loan for an aggregate purchase price of $10.0 million, including a $2.2 million premium and accrued but unpaid dividends of $0.9 million,
pursuant to the Preferred Stock Repurchase Agreement. The Company also retired these repurchased shares.
Note 10 – Fair Value Measurements
The Company measures the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in accordance with ASC Topic 820 – Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. ASC Topic 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value and requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to
measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
•

Level 1 — inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement date;

•

Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly such as quoted prices in active
markets for similar assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of assets or liabilities; and

•

Level 3 — unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.

The Company believes that the carrying amounts of its financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and accounts payable consist
primarily of instruments without extended maturities, which approximate fair value primarily due to their short-term maturities and low risk of counterparty default. We also
believe that the face value of the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan approximates its fair value due to the variable rate on such debt. As of June 30, 2019, the Company determined
the fair value of its 2019 Refinancing Term Loan at $40.0 million. The fair value was determined using discounted estimated future cash flows using level 3 inputs.
To determine the fair value of the warrants issued in connection with the Business Combination, the Company utilized the Black-Scholes model.
The fair value of the Company’s warrant liabilities (refer to Note 7) recorded in the Company’s financial statements is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton option
pricing model and the quoted price of the Company’s common stock in an active market, volatility and expected life, is a Level 3 measurement. Volatility is based on the actual
market activity of the Company’s stock. The expected life is based on the remaining contractual term of the warrants and the risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield
available on U.S. Treasury Securities with a maturity equivalent to the warrants’ expected life.
The table below sets forth the assumptions used within the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to value the Company’s warrant liabilities:
Stock price
Exercise price
Time until expiration (years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield

$
$

8.13
7.63
4.8
56.2%
1.8%
0.0%

The fair value of the Company’s embedded derivative liability recorded in the Company’s financial statements is determined using a probability-weighted discounted cash flow
approach utilizing inputs including the imposed 2019 Refinancing Agreement Lender material weakness fee of 1.00% of the Total Term Loan Commitment as in effect on the
Effective Date as well as the applicable margin increase of 1.00 % per annum as outlined in Note 7.
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Level 3 rollforward table:
Embedded
Derivative
Liability

CB Warrants
Liability

(in thousands)
Fair value, December 31, 2018
Issuances
Transfers
Change in fair value
Fair value, March 31, 2019
Issuances
Transfers
Change in fair value
Fair value, June 30, 2019

$

969
103
1,072

$

$

$

388
388

Note 11 – Earnings per Share
Diluted EPS assumes the dilutive effect of outstanding common stock warrants, UPOs and RSUs, all using the treasury stock method, and the dilutive effect of the Class A
Preferred Stock, using the “if-converted” method.

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
EPS numerator:
Net income (loss)
Less: Premium paid on partial preferred redemption
Less: Undistributed preferred stock dividends
Net income (loss) attributable to Limbach Holdings, Inc. common stockholders

Three months ended
June 30,
2019
2018
$

$

EPS denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic
Impact of dilutive securities
Weighted average shares outstanding – diluted

(1,504)
(1,504 )

$

$

7,643
7,643

Six months ended
June 30,
2019
2018
709
709

$

$

7,543
265
7,808

642
642

$

$

7,643
74
7,717

(1,715)
2,219
(113)
(3,821 )

7,542
7,542

Basic EPS attributable to common stockholders:
Net income (loss) attributable to Limbach Holdings, Inc. common stockholders

$

(0.20)

$

0.09

$

0.08

$

(0.51)

Diluted EPS attributable to common stockholders:
Net income (loss) attributable to Limbach Holdings, Inc. common stockholders

$

(0.20)

$

0.09

$

0.08

$

(0.51)
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The following table summarizes the securities that were antidilutive (including warrants, UPOs, RSUs and Preferred Stock after giving effect to their respective conversion to
shares of common stock for those units in-the-money, or share equivalents for those units out-of-the-money) and therefore, were not included in the computations of diluted
income (loss) per common share:

In-the-money warrants (See Note 8)
Out-of-the-money warrants (See Note 8)
Preferred Stock (See Note 9)
Restricted stock units (RSUs) (See Note 17)(1)
In-the-money UPOs (See Note 8)
Out-of-the-money UPOs (See Note 8)
Total

Three months ended
June 30,
2019
2018
4,576,799
1,231,119
138,782
27,360
4,742,941
1,231,119

Six months ended
June 30,
2019
2018
277,640
4,576,799
600,000
34,033
2,867
76,972
27,360
4,502
4,607,026
993,147

(1) For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, all PRSUs and MRSUs (both as defined below) were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share

because the performance and market conditions were not satisfied during the periods and would not be satisfied if the reporting date was at the end of the contingency periods.
Note 12 – Income Taxes
The Company is taxed as a C corporation.
For interim periods, the provision for income taxes (including federal, state, local and foreign taxes) is calculated based on the estimated annual effective tax rate, adjusted for
certain discrete items for the full fiscal year. Cumulative adjustments to the Company's estimate are recorded in the interim period in which a change in the estimated annual
effective rate is determined. Each quarter we update our estimate of the annual effective tax rate, and if our estimated tax rate changes, we make a cumulative adjustment.
The effective tax benefit rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 was 26.9% and 31.3%, respectively, as compared to an effective tax rate of 29.2% and 30.4% for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2018. The Company’s effective tax rates differ from the federal statutory rate of 21% primarily due to state taxes, nondeductible
expenses and tax credits.
No valuation allowance was required as of June 30, 2019 or December 31, 2018.
The Company performed an analysis of its tax positions and determined that no material uncertain tax positions exist. Accordingly, there was no liability for uncertain tax
positions as of June 30, 2019 or December 31, 2018. Based on the provisions of ASC Topic 740 - Income Taxes, the Company had no material unrecognized tax benefits as of
June 30, 2019 or December 31, 2018.
Note 13 – Operating Segments
The Company determined its operating segments on the same basis that it assesses performance and makes operating decisions. The Company manages and measures the
performance of its business in two distinct operating segments: Construction and Service. These segments are reflective of how the Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker
(“CODM”) reviews operating results for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance. The Company's CODM is comprised of its Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officers.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates performance based on income
from operations of the respective segments after the allocation of Corporate office operating expenses. In accordance with ASC Topic 280 – Segment Reporting, the Company
has elected to aggregate all of the construction branches into one Construction reportable segment and all of the service branches into one Service reportable segment. All
transactions between segments are eliminated in consolidation. Our Corporate departments provide general and administrative support services to our two operating segments.
The CODM allocates costs between segments for selling, general and administrative expenses and depreciation expense.
All of the Company’s identifiable assets are located in the United States, which is where the Company is domiciled. The Company does not have sales outside the United
States. The Company does not identify capital expenditures and total assets by segment in its internal financial reports due in part to the shared use of a centralized fleet of
vehicles and specialized equipment. Interest expense is not allocated to segments because of the corporate management of debt service including interest.
Condensed consolidated segment information for the periods presented is as follows:
Three months ended June 30,
2019
2018

(in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Construction
Service
Total revenue

$

104,925
27,828
132,753

$

113,735
25,796
139,531

Gross profit:
Construction
Service
Total gross profit

10,422
6,979
17,401

9,501
6,297
15,798

Selling, general and administrative expenses:
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total selling, general and administrative expenses
Amortization of intangibles
Operating income (loss)

$

8,377
4,460
4,242
17,079
175
147

$

6,696
3,345
3,644
13,685
336
1,777

$

147

$

1,777

$

(799)
24
(775)
1,002

Operating income (loss) for reportable segments
Less unallocated amounts:
Interest expense, net
Gain on disposition of property and equipment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on change in fair value of warrant liability
Total unallocated amounts
Income (loss) before income taxes

$

Other Data:
Depreciation and amortization:
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total other data

$

$

23

(1,597)
9
(513)
(103)
(2,204 )
(2,057 )

810
223
427
1,460

$

$

704
192
531
1,427

Six months ended June 30,
2019
2018

(in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Construction
Service
Total revenue

$

209,599
57,105
266,704

$

210,545
49,535
260,080

Gross profit:
Construction
Service
Total gross profit

23,735
13,699
37,434

18,772
10,313
29,085

Selling, general and administrative expenses:
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total selling, general and administrative expenses
Amortization of intangibles
Operating income (loss)

$

15,841
8,771
8,512
33,124
350
3,960

$

14,455
7,471
7,425
29,351
671
(937)

$

3,960

$

(937)

$

(2,430)
21
(513)
(103)
(3,025 )
935

$

(1,568)
40
(1,528 )
(2,465 )

Operating income (loss) for reportable segments
Less unallocated amounts:
Interest expense, net
Gain on disposition of property and equipment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on change in fair value of warrant liability
Total unallocated amounts
Income (loss) before income taxes
Other Data:
Depreciation and amortization:
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total other data

$

$

1,590
429
854
2,873

$

$

1,370
372
1,056
2,798

Note 14 – Commitments and Contingencies
Leases. Operating leases consist primarily of leases for real property and equipment. The leases frequently include renewal options, escalation clauses, and require the Company
to pay certain occupancy expenses. Lease expense was approximately $1.3 million and $2.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively, compared to
$1.1 million and $2.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018.
Capital leases consist primarily of leases for vehicles (see Note 7 – Debt). The leases require monthly payments of principal and interest. All leases transfer title at lease end for
a nominal cash buyout.
Legal. The Company is continually engaged in administrative proceedings, arbitrations, and litigation with owners, general contractors, suppliers, and other unrelated parties, all
arising in the ordinary courses of business. In the opinion of the Company’s management, the results of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on the financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.
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LFS and Harper, wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, were parties to a lawsuit involving a Harper employee who was alleged to be in the course and scope of his
employment at the time the personal car he was operating collided with another car causing injuries to three persons and one fatality. During the course of the litigation, the
plaintiffs made settlement demands within LFS and Harper’s insurance coverage limits. In October 2018, the plaintiffs agreed to settle and dismiss their lawsuit in exchange for
an aggregate payment of $30.0 million from LFS and Harper, which amounts were entirely paid by the Company’s insurance carriers during February 2019. The $30.0 million
amounts due from the Company’s insurance carriers and due to the plaintiffs were included in the captions labeled Other current assets and Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2018. The Company had no monetary exposure, including for punitive damages. This matter was
dismissed on April 28, 2019.
Surety. The terms of our construction contracts frequently require that we obtain from surety companies, and provide to our customers, payment and performance bonds
(“Surety Bonds”) as a condition to the award of such contracts. The Surety Bonds secure our payment and performance obligations under such contracts, and we have agreed to
indemnify the surety companies for amounts, if any, paid by them in respect of Surety Bonds issued on our behalf. In addition, at the request of labor unions representing certain
of our employees, Surety Bonds are sometimes provided to secure obligations for wages and benefits payable to or for such employees. Public sector contracts require Surety
Bonds more frequently than private sector contracts, and accordingly, our bonding requirements typically increase as the amount of public sector work increases. As of June 30,
2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had approximately $98.3 million and $134.2 million, respectively, in surety bonds outstanding. The Surety Bonds are issued by
surety companies in return for premiums, which vary depending on the size and type of bond.
Collective Bargaining Agreements. Many of the Company’s craft labor employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. The agreements require the Company to
pay specified wages, provide certain benefits and contribute certain amounts to multi-employer pension plans. If the Company withdraws from any of the multi-employer
pension plans or if the plans were to otherwise become underfunded, the Company could incur additional liabilities related to these plans. Although the Company has been
informed that some of the multi-employer pension plans to which it contributes have been classified as “critical” status, the Company is not currently aware of any significant
liabilities related to this issue.
Note 15 – Self-Insurance
The Company purchases workers’ compensation and general liability insurance under policies with per-incident deductibles of $250 thousand and a $4.2 million maximum
aggregate deductible loss limit per year.
The components of the self-insurance liability as of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:

(in thousands)
Current liability — workers’ compensation and general liability
Current liability — medical and dental
Non-current liability
Total liability shown in Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Restricted cash

$

$
$

As of
June 30,
2019
487
424
657
1,568
113

As of
December 31,
2018
$
352
607
820
$
1,779
$
113

The restricted cash balance represents an imprest cash balance set aside for the funding of workers' compensation and general liability insurance claims. This amount is
replenished either when depleted or at the beginning of each month.
Note 16 – Backlog
At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company’s contractual Construction backlog, which represents the amount of revenue the Company expects to realize from work
to be performed on uncompleted construction contracts in progress, was $536.8 million and $505.5 million, respectively. In addition, Service backlog as of June 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018 was $49.4 million and $54.2 million, respectively.
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Note 17 – Management Incentive Plans
Upon approval of the Business Combination, the Company adopted the Limbach Holdings, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”). Certain employees, directors and
consultants will be eligible to be granted awards under the 2016 Plan, other than incentive stock options, which may be granted only to employees. As of June 30, 2019, the
Company had reserved 1,150,000 shares of its common stock for issuance under the 2016 Plan. The number of shares issued or reserved pursuant to the 2016 Plan will be
adjusted by the plan administrator, as they may deem appropriate and equitable as a result of stock splits, stock dividends, and similar changes in the Company’s common stock.
In connection with the grant of an award, the plan administrator may provide for the treatment of such award in the event of a change in control. All awards are made in the form
of shares only.
Service-Based Awards
In 2019, the Company granted 220,636 service-based RSUs to its executives, certain employees, and non-employee directors under the 2016 Plan.
The following table summarizes our service-based RSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2019:
Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Awards
Fair Value
173,087 $
13.30
220,636
6.61
(50,222)
13.31
(5,418 )
9.17
338,083 $
9.00

Unvested at December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested at June 30, 2019
Performance-Based Awards

The Company did not grant any performance-based RSUs (“PRSUs”) to its executives and certain employees under the 2016 Plan during the first six months of 2019. The
Company will recognize stock-based compensation expense for these awards over the vesting period based on the projected probability of achievement of certain performance
conditions as of the end of each reporting period during the performance period and may periodically adjust the recognition of such expense, as necessary, in response to any
changes in the Company’s forecasts with respect to the performance conditions. As of June 30, 2019, the Company had not recognized any stock-based compensation expense
related to its PRSUs granted to date.
The following table summarizes our PRSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2019:
Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Awards
Fair Value
124,057 $
13.34
(2,750 )
13.39
121,307 $
13.34

Unvested at December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested at June 30, 2019
Market-Based Awards
The following table summarizes our market-based RSU (“MRSUs”) activity for the six months ended June 30, 2019:

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Awards
Fair Value
140,500 $
6.58
(3,000 )
6.58
137,500 $
6.58

Unvested at December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested at June 30, 2019

Total recognized stock-based compensation expense amounted to $0.5 million and $0.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. The aggregate
fair value as of the vest date of RSUs that vested during the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively. Total unrecognized stockbased compensation expense related to unvested RSUs which are probable of vesting was $1.6 million at June 30, 2019. These costs are expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.19 years.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. In addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could
cause actual results to differ materially from our management’s expectations. Factors that could cause such differences are discussed in “Forward-Looking Statements” and
“Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. We assume no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements.
Overview
We are an industry-leading commercial specialty contractor in the areas of heating, ventilation and air conditioning (“HVAC”), plumbing, electrical and building controls
through design and construction of new and renovated buildings, maintenance services, energy retrofits and equipment upgrades for private customers and federal, state, and
local public agencies in Florida, California, Massachusetts, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Delaware, Maryland, Washington, D.C., Virginia, West Virginia, Ohio and Michigan.
We operate our business in two segments, (i) Construction, in which we generally manage large construction or renovation projects that involve primarily HVAC, plumbing or
electrical services, and (ii) Service, in which we provide facility maintenance or services primarily on HVAC, plumbing or electrical systems. Our branches and corporate
headquarters are located in the United States.
JOBS Act
We are an emerging growth company (“EGC”) pursuant to the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”). The JOBS Act contains provisions that, among other
things, reduce certain reporting requirements for qualifying companies. Under the JOBS Act, we will remain an EGC until the earliest of:
·

December 31, 2019 (the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering of common equity securities);

·

the last day of the fiscal year in which we have annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion or more;

·

the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt; and

·

the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer,” which will occur at such time as the Company has an aggregate worldwide market value of common
equity securities held by non-affiliates of $700.0 million or more as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter.

Pursuant to Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act, as an EGC we elected to delay adoption of accounting pronouncements newly issued or revised after April 5, 2012 and applicable
to public companies until such pronouncements are made applicable to private companies. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial
statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised accounting standards that are applicable to public companies.
Key Components of Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
Revenue
We generate revenue principally from fixed-price construction contracts to deliver HVAC, plumbing, and electrical construction services to our customers. The duration of our
contracts generally ranges from six months to two years. Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method, measured by the
relationship of total cost incurred to total estimated contract costs (cost-to-cost method). Revenue from time and materials contracts is recognized as services are performed. We
believe that our extensive experience in HVAC, plumbing, and electrical projects, and our internal cost review procedures during the bidding process, enable us to reasonably
estimate costs and mitigate the risk of cost overruns on fixed price contracts.
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We generally invoice customers on a monthly basis, based on a schedule of values that breaks down the contract amount into discrete billing items. Costs and estimated
earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts are recorded as an asset until billable under the contract terms. Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on
uncompleted contracts are recorded as a liability until the related revenue is recognizable.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue primarily consists of the labor, equipment, material, subcontract, and other job costs in connection with fulfilling the terms of our contracts. Labor costs consist
of wages plus taxes, fringe benefits, and insurance. Equipment costs consist of the ownership and operating costs of company-owned assets, in addition to outside-rented
equipment. If applicable, job costs include estimated contract losses to be incurred in future periods. Due to the varied nature of our services, and the risks associated therewith,
contract costs as a percentage of contract revenue have historically fluctuated and we expect this fluctuation to continue in future periods.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs for our administrative, estimating, human resources, safety, information technology, legal,
finance and accounting employees and executives. Also included are non-personnel costs, such as travel-related expenses, legal and other professional fees and other corporate
expenses to support the growth of our business and to meet the compliance requirements associated with operating as a public company. Those costs include accounting, human
resources, information technology, legal personnel, additional consulting, legal and audit fees, insurance costs, board of directors’ compensation and the costs of achieving and
maintaining compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
Amortization of Intangibles
Amortization expense represents periodic non-cash charges that consist of amortization of various intangible assets, primarily including leasehold interests, customer
relationships - Service, and Construction and Service backlogs.
Other Income/Expense, Net
Other income/expense, net consists primarily of interest expense incurred in connection with our debt, net of interest income, gains and losses on the disposition of property and
equipment and changes in the fair value of warrant liability. Deferred financing costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method.
Income Taxes
The Company is taxed as a C corporation and our financial results include the effects of federal income taxes which are paid at the parent level.
For interim periods, the provision for income taxes (including federal, state and local taxes) is calculated based on the estimated annual effective tax rate. The Company
accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC Topic 740 - Income Taxes, which requires the use of the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities and income or expense are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying values and their
respective tax bases, using enacted tax rates expected to be applicable in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. Changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recorded in the provision for income taxes.
Operating Segments
We manage and measure the performance of our business in two operating segments: Construction and Service. These segments are reflective of how the Company’s Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) reviews operating results for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance. Our CODM is comprised of our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officers. The CODM evaluates performance and allocates resources based on operating income, which is profit
or loss from operations before “other” corporate expenses, income tax provision (benefit) and dividends, if any.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 2 to our 2018 Consolidated Financial
Statements. Our CODM evaluates performance based on income from operations of the respective branches after the allocation of corporate office operating expenses. In
accordance with ASC Topic 280 – Segment Reporting, the Company has elected to aggregate all of the construction branches into one Construction reportable segment and all
of the service branches into one Service reportable segment. All transactions between segments are eliminated in consolidation. Our Corporate department provides general and
administrative support services to our two operating segments. We allocate costs between segments for selling, general and administrative expenses and depreciation expense.
Some selling, general and administrative expenses such as executive and administrative salaries and payroll, corporate marketing, corporate depreciation and amortization,
consulting, and accounting and corporate legal fees are not allocated to segments because the allocation method would be arbitrary and would not provide an accurate
presentation of operating results of segments; instead these types of expenses are maintained as a corporate expense. See Note 13 – Operating Segments in the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
We do not identify capital expenditures and total assets by segment in our internal financial reports due in part to the shared use of a centralized fleet of vehicles and specialized
equipment. Interest expense is not allocated to segments because of the corporate management of debt service.
Comparison of Results of Operations for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018
The following table presents operating results for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 in dollars and expressed as a percentage of total revenue, as
compared below:
Three months ended June 30,
2019
(in thousands except for percentages)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Construction
Service
Total revenue

($)
$

2018
(%)

104,925
27,828
132,753

($)
79.0%
21.0%
100.0%

$

(%)

113,735
25,796
139,531

81.5%
18.5%
100.0%

Gross profit:
Construction
Service
Total gross profit

10,422
6,979
17,401

9.9%(1)
25.1%(2)
13.1%

9,501
6,297
15,798

8.4%(1)
24.4%(2)
11.3%

Selling, general and administrative:
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total selling, general and administrative expenses

8,377
4,460
4,242
17,079

8.0%(1)
16.0%(2)
3.1%(3)
12.9%

6,696
3,345
3,644
13,685

5.9%(1)
13.0%(2)
2.6%(3)
9.8%

Amortization of intangibles (Corporate)
Operating income (loss):
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total operating income (loss)

2,045
2,519
(4,417 )
147

Other expenses (Corporate)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net income (loss)

(2,204 )
(2,057)
(553)
(1,504 )

(1)

As a percentage of Construction revenue.

(2)

As a percentage of Service revenue.

(3)

As a percentage of Total revenue.

0.1%

175

$

29

1.9%(1)
9.1%(2)
0.1%

$

(1.7 )%
(1.5)%
(0.4 )%
(1.1 )%

0.2%

336

$

2,805
2,952
(3,980 )
1,777

2.5%(1)
11.4%(2)
1.3%

(775)
1,002
293
709

(0.6 )%
0.7%
0.2%
0.5%

$

Revenue
Three months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Revenue:
Construction
Service
Total revenue

104,925
27,828
132,753

113,735
25,796
139,531

(8,810)
2,032
(6,778)

(7.7)%
7.9%
(4.9)%

Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2019 decreased by $6.8 million compared to the three months ended June 30, 2018. Construction revenue decreased by $8.8
million, or 7.7%, and Service revenue increased by $2.0 million, or 7.9%. The decrease in Construction revenue was primarily driven by revenue decreases for our Mid-Atlantic,
Michigan and Southern California regions. Our Mid-Atlantic Construction revenue decrease was the most significant and is attributable to a planned construction volume
reduction for this region, while the Michigan region’s decrease results from the substantial completion of two projects since the second quarter of 2018. These decreases were
partially offset by Construction revenue increases in our Florida, New England and Western Pennsylvania regions. Our Florida region’s Construction growth was the most
significant and resulted from seven new projects on which work commenced since the second quarter of 2018. Our Service revenue increase is primarily attributable to increases
in our Michigan and Eastern Pennsylvania regions, as partially offset by reductions in our Mid-Atlantic and Ohio regions. Maintenance contract revenue, a component of
Service revenue, was $3.7 million and $3.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, respectively, an increase of $0.3 million or 9.7%.
Gross Profit
Three months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Gross Profit:
Construction
Service
Total gross profit
Total gross profit as a percentage of consolidated total revenue

10,422
6,979
17,401
13.1%

9,501
6,297
15,798
11.3%

921
682
1,603

9.7%
10.8%
10.1%

Our gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2019 increased by $1.6 million compared to the three months ended June 30, 2018. Construction gross profit increased $0.9
million, or 9.7%, primarily due to gross profit improvements for our Florida and Mid-Atlantic regions, as partially offset by a gross profit decrease for our Southern California
region. The Florida Construction gross profit improvement resulted from strong margin on the higher revenue volume noted above, while our Mid-Atlantic region benefited
from only one Construction project write down totaling $0.3 million recorded during the second quarter of 2019 compared to six project write downs totaling $3.6 million during
the second quarter of 2018. The Southern California region’s Construction gross profit decrease is attributable to the second quarter 2019 write downs noted in the succeeding
paragraph. Service gross profit increase $0.7 million or 10.8%, due to gross profit improvements in our Michigan, Mid-Atlantic, Eastern Pennsylvania and Ohio regions, as
partially offset by a Florida region decrease during the second quarter of 2019. As a result of the foregoing, our total gross profit percentage increased from 11.3% in the second
quarter of 2018 to 13.1% in the second quarter of 2019.
For the three months ended June 30, 2019, we recorded revisions in our contract estimates for certain construction and service projects. For individual projects with revisions
having a material gross profit impact, this resulted in gross profit write ups totaling $0.3 million on one construction project and $0.3 million on one service project. We also
recorded revisions in contract estimates that resulted in project write downs totaling $1.9 million on three construction projects for our Southern California region.
30

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Three months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Selling, general and administrative expenses:
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total selling, general and administrative expenses

8,377
4,460
4,242
17,079

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of consolidated total
revenue

12.9%

6,696
3,345
3,644
13,685

1,681
1,115
598
3,394

25.1%
33.3%
16.4%
24.8%

9.8%

Our total selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses increased by approximately $3.4 million to $17.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 compared
to $13.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018. For the three months ended June 30, 2019, Corporate SG&A expense included $0.5 million of stock-based
compensation expense associated with the grant of restricted stock units, down $0.2 million from $0.7 million for the second quarter of 2018. We also incurred incremental
payroll expenses totaling $3.2 million related to higher salary and benefit costs for new hires and retention bonus payments made during the second quarter of 2019. Selling,
general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 12.9% for the three months ended June 30, 2019 up from 9.8% for the three months ended June 30, 2018.
Amortization of Intangibles

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Amortization of intangibles (Corporate)

175

Three months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%
336
(161)

(47.9)%

Total amortization expense for the amortizable intangible assets was $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30,
2018. This decrease is primarily attributable to the Backlog – Construction intangible asset becoming fully amortized during the fourth quarter of 2018, thereby resulting in no
future amortization expense.
Other Expenses
Three months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Other income (expenses):
Interest expense, net
Gain on disposition of property and equipment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on change in fair value of warrant liability
Total other income (expenses)

(1,597)
9
(513)
(103)
(2,204)

(799)
24
(775)

798
(15)
513
103
1,399

99.9%
(62.5)%
100.0%
100.0%
180.5%

Other expenses, primarily interest expense, were $2.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019 and $0.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Our interest
expense resulted from the net effect of higher second quarter 2019 interest rates being applied to higher debt principal balances. Debt issuance costs totaling $0.5 million
associated with the previous Credit Agreement were written off at the time of the refinancing transaction resulting in a loss on debt extinguishment. The Company also recorded
other expenses of approximately $0.1 million to reflect the change in fair value of the CB Warrant liability during the second quarter of 2019.
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Income Taxes
We recorded an income tax benefit of $0.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to an income tax provision of $0.3 million for the second quarter of
2018. Based on our pre-tax loss for the second quarter of 2019, the benefit of $0.6 million consisted of $0.1 million current federal tax benefit and $0.5 million deferred tax
benefit for that period. The Company had no current state or local income tax provision (benefit) for the three months ended June 30, 2018. Our effective tax benefit rate was
26.9% for the second quarter of 2019, compared to an effective tax rate of 29.2% for the second quarter of 2018. Our effective tax rates differ from the federal statutory rate of
21% primarily due to state taxes, nondeductible expenses and tax credits. See Note 12 - Income Taxes in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Comparison of Results of Operations for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018
The following table presents operating results for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 in dollars and expressed as a percentage of total revenue, as compared
below:
Six months ended June 30,
2019
(in thousands except for percentages)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Construction
Service
Total revenue

($)
$

2018
(%)

209,599
57,105
266,704

($)
78.6%
21.4%
100.0%

$

(%)

210,545
49,535
260,080

81.0%
19.0%
100.0%

Gross profit:
Construction
Service
Total gross profit

23,735
13,699
37,434

11.3%(1)
24.0%(2)
14.0%

18,772
10,313
29,085

8.9%(1)
20.8%(2)
11.2%

Selling, general and administrative:
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total selling, general and administrative expenses

15,841
8,771
8,512
33,124

7.6%(1)
15.4%(2)
3.2%(3)
12.4%

14,455
7,471
7,425
29,351

6.9%(1)
15.1%(2)
2.9%(3)
11.3%

Amortization of intangibles (Corporate)
Operating income (loss):
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total operating income (loss)

7,894
4,928
(8,862 )
3,960

Other expenses (Corporate)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net income (loss)

(3,025 )
935
293
642

(1)

As a percentage of Construction revenue.

(2)

As a percentage of Service revenue.

(3)

As a percentage of Total revenue.

0.1%

350

$

32

3.8%(1)
8.6%(2)
1.5%

$

(1.1 )%
0.4%
(0.1 )%
0.2%

0.3%

671

$

4,317
2,842
(8,096 )
(937)

2.1%(1)
5.7%(2)
(0.4 )%

(1,528 )
(2,465)
(750)
(1,715 )

(0.6 )%
(0.9)%
(0.2 )%
(0.7 )%

$

Revenue
Six months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Revenue:
Construction
Service
Total revenue

209,599
57,105
266,704

210,545
49,535
260,080

(946)
7,570
6,624

(0.4)%
15.3%
2.5%

Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2019 increased by $6.6 million compared to the six months ended June 30, 2018. Construction revenue decreased by $0.9 million, or
0.4%, and Service revenue increased by $7.6 million, or 15.3%. The decrease in Construction revenue was primarily driven by decreases in our Mid-Atlantic and Michigan
regions due to our planned construction volume reduction at Mid-Atlantic and the substantial completion of one Michigan project since the second quarter of 2018. These
decreases were partially offset by revenue increases for our Florida, New England and Western Pennsylvania regions. Our Florida region’s Construction revenue increase was
the most significant and resulted primarily from ten construction projects on which work either commenced or ramped up since the first six months of 2018. Western
Pennsylvania’s Construction revenue increase resulted from restarting work on one construction project. Our Service revenue increase is primarily attributable to increases in
our Florida, Eastern Pennsylvania, Michigan and New England regions, as partially offset by a Mid-Atlantic reduction. Our Florida region’s Service revenue increase was the
most significant and resulted primarily from seven new service projects on which work commenced or ramped up since the first six months of 2018. Maintenance contract
revenue, a component of Service revenue, was $7.4 million and $6.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, respectively, an increase of $0.7 million
or 11.2%.
Gross Profit
Six months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Gross Profit:
Construction
Service
Total gross profit
Total gross profit as a percentage of consolidated total revenue

23,735
13,699
37,434
14.0%

18,772
10,313
29,085
11.2%

4,963
3,386
8,349

26.4%
32.8%
28.7%

Our gross profit for the six months ended June 30, 2019 increased by $8.3 million compared to the six months ended June 30, 2018. Construction gross profit increased $5.0
million, or 26.4%, primarily due to gross profit improvements for our Florida and Mid-Atlantic regions, as partially offset by a gross profit decrease for our Southern California
region. The Florida gross profit improvement resulted from strong margin on the higher revenue volume noted above, while our Mid-Atlantic region benefited from only one
project write down totaling $0.5 million recorded during the first half of 2019 compared to seven project write downs totaling $6.6 million during the first half of 2018. The
Southern California region’s Construction gross profit decrease is attributable to the 2019 project write downs noted in the succeeding paragraph. Service gross profit increased
$2.7 million, or 67.3%, due primarily to the impacts of a single Mid-Atlantic project write down of $0.9 million during the first half of 2018, increased maintenance service
revenue, increased service work volume and more favorable project pricing. As a result of the foregoing, our total gross profit percentage increased from 11.2% for the first six
months of 2018 to 14.0% for the first six months of 2019.
For the six months ended June 30, 2019, we recorded revisions in our contract estimates for certain construction and service projects. For individual construction projects with
revisions having a material gross profit impact, this resulted in gross profit write ups totaling $3.0 million on six projects, including three projects totaling $1.0 million for our
Mid-Atlantic region. One of these project write ups in the amount of $1.4 million resulted from our settlement of a significant Michigan project. We also recorded revisions in
contract estimates that resulted in project write downs totaling $3.5 million on seven projects, including four projects totaling $2.2 million in our Southern California region and
one project for $0.5 million in our Mid-Atlantic region. Revisions in our contract estimates on one service project resulted in a gross profit write up of $0.3 million on a MidAtlantic project and one Southern California project resulted in a gross profit write down of $0.3 million for the first six months of 2019.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Six months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Selling, general and administrative expenses:
Construction
Service
Corporate
Total selling, general and administrative expenses

15,841
8,771
8,512
33,124

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of consolidated total
revenue

12.4%

14,455
7,471
7,425
29,351

1,386
1,300
1,087
3,773

9.6%
17.4%
14.6%
12.9%

11.3%

Our SG&A expenses increased by approximately $3.8 million to $33.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to $29.4 million for the six months ended June
30, 2018. For the six months ended June 30, 2019, Corporate SG&A expense included $0.9 million of stock-based compensation expense associated with the grant of restricted
stock units, representing a decrease of $0.2 million year over year. Another component of the overall SG&A expense increase for the first half of 2019 included a $1.2 million
increase due to higher payroll-related incentive compensation expense as a result of the Company’s stronger current year-to-date EBITDA performance. We also incurred
incremental payroll expenses totaling $2.7 million related to higher salary and benefit costs for new hires and retention bonus payments made during the first half of 2019.
Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 12.4% for the six months ended June 30, 2019, up from 11.3% for the six months ended June 30,
2018.
Amortization of Intangibles

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Amortization of intangibles (Corporate)

350

Six months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%
671
(321)

(47.8)%

Total amortization expense for the amortizable intangible assets was $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and $0.7 million for the six months ended June 30,
2018. This decrease is primarily attributable to the Backlog – Construction intangible asset becoming fully amortized during the fourth quarter of 2018, thereby resulting in no
future amortization expense.
Other Expenses
Six months ended June 30,
2018
Increase/(Decrease)
$
$
%

2019
$

(in thousands except for percentages)
Other income (expenses):
Interest expense, net
Gain on disposition of property and equipment
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on change in fair value of warrant liability
Total other income (expenses)

(2,430)
21
(513)
(103)
(3,025)
34

(799)
24
(775)

1,631
3
513
103
2,250

204.1%
12.5%
100.0%
100.0%
290.3%

Other expenses, primarily interest expense, were $3.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and $0.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. Our interest
expense increased due to the Company’s debt obligations, including debt issuance amortization, associated with the 2019 Refinancing Agreement that occurred on April 12,
2019. Debt issuance costs totaling $0.5 million associated with the previous Credit Agreement were written off at the time of the refinancing transaction resulting in a loss on
debt extinguishment. The Company also recorded other expenses of approximately $0.1 million to reflect the change in fair value of the CB Warrant liability during the second
quarter of 2019.
Income Taxes
We recorded an income tax provision of $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to an income tax benefit of $0.8 million for the same six months ended
June 30, 2018. For the first six months of 2019, our provision comprised a current federal tax provision of $0.1 million and a deferred tax provision of $0.2 million. Our
effective tax rate was 31.3% for the first six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to a benefit rate of 30.4% for the first six months ended June 30, 2018. Our effective tax
rates differ from the federal statutory rate of 21% primarily due to state taxes, nondeductible expenses and tax credits. See Note 12 - Income Taxes in the Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Construction and Service Backlog Information
Our contract backlog consists of the remaining unearned revenue on awarded contracts. Backlog is not a term recognized under generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America (“GAAP”); however, it is a common measurement used in our industry. Once we have successfully negotiated a project and have received written
confirmation of the contract being awarded to us, we record the value of the contract as backlog. Consequently, contract backlog is also an important factor we use to monitor
our business. The duration of our contracts varies significantly from months to years and our backlog is subject to increases as projects are added. Our backlog does not
necessarily represent the amount of work that we are currently negotiating or pursuing at any given time. It is also subject to change as contract backlog can increase or decrease
due to contract change orders.
Given the multi-year duration of many of our contracts, revenue from backlog is expected to be earned over a period that will extend beyond one year. Many of our contracts
contain provisions that allow the contract to be canceled at any time; however, if this occurs, we can generally recover costs incurred up to the date of cancellation. Historically,
we have not experienced significant decreases in contract value or cancellations of projects that were already included in backlog.
Construction backlog was $536.8 million at June 30, 2019, compared to $505.5 million at December 31, 2018, which reflects new construction contract awards that we received
during the first six months of 2019. In addition, Service backlog as of June 30, 2019 was $49.4 million compared to $54.2 million at December 31, 2018. Of the total backlog at
June 30, 2019, we expect to recognize approximately $239.5 million, or 40.9%, by the end of 2019.
Seasonality, Cyclicality and Quarterly Trends
Severe weather can impact our operations. In the northern climates where we operate, and to a lesser extent the southern climates as well, severe winters can slow our
productivity on construction projects, which shifts revenue and gross profit recognition to a later period. Our maintenance operations may also be impacted by mild or severe
weather. Mild weather tends to reduce demand for our maintenance services, whereas severe weather may increase the demand for our maintenance and spot services. Our
operations also experience mild cyclicality, as building owners typically work through maintenance and capital projects at an increased level during the third and fourth
calendar quarters of each year.
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Effect of Inflation and Tariffs
The prices of products such as steel, pipe, copper and equipment from manufacturers are subject to fluctuation and the imposition of or increases in tariffs. While it is difficult to
accurately measure the impact of inflation and tariffs due to the imprecise nature of the estimates required, we believe these effects, if any, on our results of operations and
financial condition have been immaterial. When appropriate, we include cost escalation factors into our bids and proposals. In addition, we are often able to mitigate the impact
of future price increases by entering into fixed price purchase orders for materials and equipment and subcontracts on our projects.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows
Our liquidity needs relate primarily to the provision of working capital (defined as current assets less current liabilities) to support operations, funding of capital expenditures,
and investment in strategic opportunities. Historically, liquidity has been provided by operating activities and borrowings from commercial banks and institutional lenders.
The following table presents summary cash flow information for the periods indicated:
Six months ended June 30,
2019
2018

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

Noncash investing and financing transactions:
Property and equipment financed with capital leases
Interest paid

$

(15,661)
(1,151)
16,204
(608)

$

1,581
1,621

$

$

680
(1,994)
944
(370)

1,521
1,184

Our cash flows are primarily impacted from period to period by fluctuations in working capital. Factors such as our contract mix, commercial terms, days sales outstanding and
delays in the start of projects may impact our working capital. In line with industry practice, we accumulate costs during a given month then bill those costs in the current month
for many of our contracts. While labor costs associated with these contracts are paid weekly and salary costs associated with the contracts are paid bi-weekly, certain
subcontractor costs are generally not paid until we receive payment from our customers (contractual “pay-if-paid” terms). We have not historically experienced a large volume
of write-offs related to our receivables and our unbilled revenue on contracts in progress. We regularly assess our receivables and costs in excess of billings for collectability
and provide allowances for doubtful accounts where appropriate. We believe that our reserves for doubtful accounts are appropriate as of June 30, 2019, but adverse changes in
the economic environment may impact certain of our customers’ ability to access capital and compensate us for our services, as well as impact project activity for the
foreseeable future.
The following table represents our summarized working capital information:
As of
June 30, 2019
$
184,552
(142,996 )
$
41,556
1.29

(in thousands, except ratios)
Current assets
Current liabilities
Net working capital
Current ratio*
*

Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities.
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As of
December 31, 2018
$
204,986
(182,138 )
$
22,848
1.13

Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
Cash flows used in operating activities were $15.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared to $0.7 million provided by operating activities for the six months
ended June 30, 2018. For the six months ended June 30, 2019, our cash usage in operating activities was significantly impacted by a $7.1 million increase in accounts
receivable, a $4.7 million decrease in accounts payable, a $4.3 million decrease in billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts (i.e.,
overbillings), a $3.3 million increase in costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings (i.e., underbillings). The accounts receivable increase resulted primarily from our
lower revenue volume and billings during the second quarter of 2019 in comparison to stronger revenue and billings for the fourth quarter of 2018. The reduction in accounts
payable is consistent with our decrease in accounts receivable and attributable to our second quarter 2019 revenue volume decrease, as well as tighter management of our
payable balances. Our decrease of $7.7 million in net overbillings resulted primarily from the combination of 2019 unbilled costs incurred on a Southern California region
Construction project on which a claim and change orders are pending, additional work performed on a previously overbilled Florida Construction project that is nearing
completion, the final settlement of a significant Michigan region project, and the effects of our second quarter 2019 overall revenue reduction as compared to the fourth quarter
of 2018. The significant decreases in other current assets and accrued expenses and other current liabilities are primarily attributable to the $30.0 million lawsuit settlement
payments referenced in Note 14 to the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. The settlement of this matter was entirely covered by the Company’s
insurance carriers.
Cash flows provided by operating activities were $0.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. For the six months ended June 30, 2018, the key components included in
cash provided by operating activities were an increase of $15.4 million in overbillings, as partially offset by an $8.1 million increase in accounts receivable and a $6.0 million
decrease in accounts payable. The changes in overbillings were primarily due to new construction projects progressing and project progress allowing for additional billings for
both work in progress and work completed.
Non-cash charges for depreciation and amortization decreased by $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 over the six months ended June 30, 2018 primarily
attributable to the Backlog – Construction intangible asset becoming fully amortized during the fourth quarter of 2018, thereby resulting in no amortization expense for the first
six months of 2019. The Company also incurred non-cash charges for debt issuance costs totaling $0.5 million associated with the previous Credit Agreement that were written
off at the time of the refinancing transaction.
Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities
Cash flows used in investing activities were $1.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and $2.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. The majority of our
cash used for investing activities in both periods was for capital additions pertaining to additional vehicles, tools and equipment, computer software and hardware purchases,
office furniture and office related leasehold improvements. We also obtained the use of various assets through operating and capital leases, which reduced the level of capital
expenditures that would have otherwise been necessary to operate our business.
Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities
Cash flows provided by financing activities were $16.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and $0.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2018. For the six
months ended June 30, 2019, we both borrowed and repaid a total of $17.5 million on the Credit Agreement Revolver and another $7.5 million on the 2019 Revolving Credit
Facility. The Company also borrowed $38.6 million on its 2019 Refinancing Term Loan, which was used to repay, in its entirety, $14.3 million on the Credit Agreement Term
Loan, $7.7 million on the Bridge Term Loan and $10.5 million on the Credit Agreement Revolver. The Company also recorded fair values of the CB Warrants liability and the
embedded derivative liability which approximated $0.9 million and $0.4 million, respectively, on the Refinancing Closing Date. The Company also made capital lease payments
of $1.1 million and payments of $3.3 million related to debt issuance costs for our April 2019 Refinancing Agreement. For the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company’s
bank overdraft increased by $2.8 million, representing an increase in the Company’s short-term obligation to its bank. Bank overdrafts represent outstanding checks in excess of
cash on hand with a specific financial institution as of any balance sheet date.
For the six months ended June 30, 2018, we borrowed $67.0 million and repaid a total of $66.6 million on the Credit Agreement Revolver, and borrowed $10.0 million under
the Bridge Term Loan which was used to redeem the Company’s remaining 280,000 preferred shares for $10.0 million, including accrued but unpaid dividends of $0.9 million.
In addition, the Company repaid $1.8 million of the Bridge Term Loan, made repayments of $1.5 million on the Credit Agreement Term Loan and made capital lease payments
of $1.0 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company’s bank overdraft increased by $4.9 million.
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The following table reflects our available funding capacity as of June 30, 2019:
(in thousands)
Cash & cash equivalents
Credit agreement:
Revolving credit facility (1)
Outstanding revolving credit facility
Outstanding letters of credit
Net credit agreement capacity available
Total available funding capacity
(1)

$

$

1,011

$

9,785
10,796

14,000
(4,215 )

Represents the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement of $15.0 million, net of a $1.0 million reserve imposed by the lender.

Cash Flow Summary
Management continues to devote additional resources to its billing and collection efforts, and expects its cash provided from operating activities to turn positive over the
remainder of 2019 as revenues increase following our seasonally low first quarter, related higher billings are issued and collected, and project margins continue to improve.
Management continues to expect that growth in its service business, which is less sensitive to the cash flow issues presented by large construction projects, will positively
impact our cash flow trends.
Debt and Related Obligations
Credit Agreement
On July 20, 2016, in connection with the Business Combination, a subsidiary of the Company, Limbach Facility Services LLC (“LFS”) entered into the Credit Agreement (as
amended, the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provided for a $25.0 million line of credit (the “Credit Agreement Revolver”) and a $24.0 million term loan (the
“Credit Agreement Term Loan”) with a consortium of four commercial banks. The loans had a variable interest rate based on one-month LIBOR and were set to expire in July
2021. The loans were subject to certain financial covenants.
On January 12, 2018, LFS and Limbach Holdings LLC (“LHLLC”) entered into the Second Amendment and Limited Waiver to the Credit Agreement (the “Second Amendment
and Limited Waiver”) with the lenders party thereto and Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent. The Second Amendment and Limited Waiver provided for a new term loan
under the Credit Agreement in the aggregate principal amount of $10.0 million (the “Bridge Term Loan”), the proceeds of which were used to repurchase the Company’s
remaining 280,000 shares of Class A Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $9.1 million plus accrued but unpaid dividends of $0.9 million. Loans under the Credit
Agreement bore interest, at the borrower’s option, at either Adjusted LIBOR (“Eurodollar”) or a base rate, in each case, plus an applicable margin. With respect to the Bridge
Term Loan, from the twelve-month anniversary of the Effective Date and all times thereafter, the applicable margin with respect to any base rate loan was 5.00% per annum
and, with respect to a Eurodollar loan, 6.00% per annum. The borrower was required to make principal payments on the Bridge Term Loan in the amount of $250,000 on the last
business day of March, June, September and December of each year, commencing on March 31, 2018. The Bridge Term Loan was to mature on April 12, 2019; however, the
balance was refinanced under the 2019 Refinancing Agreements prior to maturity. The Bridge Term Loan was guaranteed by the same Guarantors and secured (on a pari passu
basis) by the same Collateral as the loans under the Credit Agreement.
On March 21, 2018, the Company, LFS and LHLLC entered into the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement (the “Third Amendment”) with the lenders party thereto and Fifth
Third Bank, as administrative agent and L/C Issuer. The Third Amendment provided for an increase in the amount that could be drawn against the Credit Agreement Revolver
for the issuances of letters of credit from $5.0 million to $8.0 million, modified the definition of EBITDA to include certain one-time costs and non-cash charges and joined the
Company as a guarantor under the Credit Agreement and related loan documents.
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On May 15, 2018, the Company, LFS and LHLLC entered into the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the “Fourth Amendment and Limited
Waiver”) with the lenders party thereto and Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent and L/C Issuer. The Fourth Amendment and Limited Waiver amended the existing
covenants of the Credit Agreement to include additional information covenants, such as work in process reports and monthly cash flow schedules. In addition, the Fourth
Amendment and Limited Waiver required a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.15 for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2018.
On August 13, 2018, the Company, LFS and LHLLC entered into the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the “Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver”)
with the lenders party thereto and Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent and L/C Issuer. The Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver amended the existing covenants of the
Credit Agreement and required the Company to engage a consultant for the purposes of making recommendations as to methods of the Company’s corporate and Mid-Atlantic’s
operations and controls. In addition, the Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver required a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.15 for the fiscal quarter ended March 30,
2019 and not less than 1.25 at all times thereafter.
During the third quarter of 2018, the Company was not in compliance with the then existing debt covenants. As a result of these violations, the lenders requested that the
Company seek alternative financing. On November 30, 2018, the Company, LFS and LHLLC entered into a Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the
“Sixth Amendment and Limited Waiver”) with the lenders party thereto and Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent and L/C Issuer pursuant to which the administrative agent
and certain lenders thereto agreed to a waiver of the Company’s non-compliance with the senior leverage and fixed charge coverage ratio requirements under the Credit
Agreement. In addition, the Sixth Amendment and Limited Waiver amended the Credit Agreement to, among other things, (i) reduce the Lenders’ $25.0 million commitment
under the Company’s Credit Agreement Revolver to $22.5 million on December 31, 2018 and $20.0 million on January 31, 2019, (ii) accelerate the maturity date for the Credit
Agreement revolver and the Credit Agreement Term Loan facility from July 20, 2021 to March 31, 2020, and (iii) require that certain actions be taken in connection with the
refinancing of the Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement by certain scheduled dates.
The Credit Agreement, as amended, required the Company to comply with certain financial performance covenants including the following: (1) a minimum EBITDA of $6.5
million for the fourth quarter of 2018, (2) a fixed charge coverage ratio not less than 1.10 for each fiscal quarter ending on or after March 31, 2019 (which was decreased from
1.15 for the fiscal quarters ending on June 30, 2018 through December 31, 2018) and (3) unfinanced capital expenditures not to exceed $1.0 million for each fiscal quarter
ending March 31, 2019, June 30, 2019, and September 30, 2019; no unfinanced capital expenditures for the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2019 and total unfinanced
capital expenditures not to exceed $3.0 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019; and no unfinanced capital expenditures where the Company fails to achieve the
required fixed charge coverage ratio for such date.
The equity interests of the Company’s subsidiaries were pledged as security for the obligations under the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement included customary events of
default, including, among other items, payment defaults, cross-defaults to other indebtedness, a change of control default and events of default with respect to certain material
agreements. Additionally, with respect to the Company, an event of default was deemed to have occurred if the Company’s securities ceased to be registered with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In case of an event of
default, the administrative agent was entitled to, among other things, accelerated payment of amounts due under the Credit Agreement, foreclose on the equity of the Company’s
subsidiaries, and exercise all rights of a secured creditor on behalf of the lenders.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with the financial and other covenants related to the Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2018, the Company had
irrevocable letters of credit in the amount of $3.4 million with its lender to secure obligations under its self-insurance program.
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Refinancing Agreements
2019 Refinancing Agreement
On April 12, 2019 (the “Refinancing Closing Date”), LFS entered into a financing agreement (the “2019 Refinancing Agreement”) with the lenders thereto and Cortland Capital
Market Services LLC, as collateral agent and administrative agent and CB Agent Services LLC, as origination agent (“CB”). The 2019 Refinancing Agreement consists of (i) a
$40.0 million term loan (the “2019 Refinancing Term Loan”) and (ii) a $25.0 million multi-draw delayed draw term loan (the “2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan” and,
collectively with the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan, the “2019 Term Loans”). Proceeds of the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan were used to repay the then existing Credit
Agreement, to pay related fees and expenses thereof and to fund working capital of the Borrowers (as defined below). Proceeds of the 2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan will be
used to fund permitted acquisitions under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement and related fees and expenses in connection therewith.
LFS, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and each of its subsidiaries are borrowers (the “Borrowers”) under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement. In addition, the 2019
Refinancing Agreement is guaranteed by the Company and LHLLC (each, a “Guarantor”, and together with the Borrowers, the “Loan Parties”).
The 2019 Refinancing Agreement is secured by a first-priority lien on the real property of the Loan Parties and a second-priority lien on substantially all other assets of the
Loan Parties, behind the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement (defined below). The respective lien priorities of the 2019 Refinancing Agreement and the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement
are governed by an intercreditor agreement.
2019 Refinancing Agreement - Interest Rates and Fees
The interest rate on borrowings under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement is, at the Borrowers’ option, either LIBOR (with a 2.00% floor) plus 8.00% or a base rate (with a 3.00%
minimum) plus 7.00%.
2019 Refinancing Agreement - Other Terms and Conditions
The 2019 Refinancing Agreement matures on April 12, 2022, subject to adjustment as described therein. Required amortization is $1.0 million per quarter commencing with the
fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2020. There is an unused line fee of 2.0% per annum on the undrawn portion of the 2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan, and there is a makewhole premium on prepayments made prior to the 19-month anniversary of the Refinancing Closing Date. This make-whole provision guarantees that the Company will pay no
less than 18 months’ applicable interest to the lenders under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement.
The 2019 Refinancing Agreement contains representations and warranties, and covenants which are customary for debt facilities of this type. Unless the Required Lenders (as
defined in the 2019 Refinancing Agreement) otherwise consent in writing, the covenants limit the ability of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries to, among other things,
to (i) incur additional indebtedness or issue preferred stock, (ii) pay dividends or make distributions to the Company’s stockholders, (iii) purchase or redeem the Company’s
equity interests, (iv) make investments, (v) create liens on their assets, (vi) enter into transactions with the Company’s affiliates, (vii) sell assets and (viii) merge or consolidate
with, or dispose of substantially all of the Company’s assets to, other companies.
In addition, the 2019 Refinancing Agreement includes customary events of default and other provisions that could require all amounts due thereunder to become immediately
due and payable, either automatically or at the option of the lenders, if the Company fails to comply with the terms of the 2019 Refinancing Agreement or if other customary
events occur.
Furthermore, the 2019 Refinancing Agreement also contains two financial maintenance covenants for the 2019 Refinancing Term Loan, including a requirement to have
sufficient collateral coverage of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 2019 Term Loans and for the total leverage ratio of the Company and its Subsidiaries (the
“Total Leverage Ratio”) not to exceed an amount beginning at 4.25 to 1.00 through June 30, 2019, and stepping down to 2.00 to 1.00 effective July 1, 2021. From July 1, 2019
through September 30, 2019, the Total Leverage Ratio may not exceed 4.00 to 1.00. The 2019 Refinancing Agreement contains a post-closing covenant requiring the
remediation of the Company’s material weakness, as described in Item 9A of its 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K, no later than December 31, 2020 and to provide updates as
to the progress of such remediation, provided that, if such remediation has not been completed on or prior to December 31, 2019, (x) the Company shall be required to pay the
post-closing fee pursuant to the terms of the Origination Agent Fee Letter (as defined in the 2019 Financing Agreement) and (y) the applicable margin shall be increased by 1.00
% per annum for the period from January 1, 2020 until the date at which the material weakness is no longer disclosed or required to be disclosed in the Company’s SEC filings
or audited financial statements of the Company or related auditor’s reports.
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2019 Refinancing Agreement – CB Warrants
In connection with the 2019 Refinancing Agreement, on the Refinancing Closing Date, the Company issued to CB and the other lenders under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement
warrants (the “CB Warrants”) to purchase up to a maximum of 263,314 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of $7.63 per share subject to certain
adjustments, including for stock dividends, stock splits or reclassifications. The actual number of shares of common stock into which the CB Warrants will be exercisable at any
given time will be equal to: (i) the product of (x) the number of shares equal to 2% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of common stock on the Refinancing
Closing Date on a fully diluted basis and (y) the percentage of the total 2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan made as of the exercise date, minus (ii) the number of shares previously
issued under the CB Warrants. As of the Refinancing Closing Date, no amounts had been drawn on the 2019 Delayed Draw Term Loan, so no portion of the CB Warrants were
exercisable. The CB Warrants may be exercised for cash or on a “cashless basis,” subject to certain adjustments, at any time after the Refinancing Closing Date until the
expiration of such warrant at 5:00 p.m., New York time, on the earlier of (i) the five (5) year anniversary of the Refinancing Closing Date, or (ii) the liquidation of the
Company.
2019 ABL Credit Agreement
On the Refinancing Closing Date, LFS also entered into a financing agreement with the lenders thereto and Citizens Bank, N.A., as collateral agent, administrative agent and
origination agent (the “2019 ABL Credit Agreement” and, together with the 2019 Refinancing Agreement, the “Refinancing Agreements”). The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement
consists of a $15.0 million revolving credit facility (the “2019 Revolving Credit Facility”). Proceeds of the 2019 Revolving Credit Facility may be used for general corporate
purposes. Upon the Refinancing Closing Date, the Company had nothing drawn on the ABL Credit Agreement and $14.0 million of available borrowing capacity thereunder
(net of a $1.0 million reserve imposed by the lender).
The Borrowers and Guarantors under the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement are the same as under the 2019 Refinancing Agreement.
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement is secured by a second-priority lien on the real property of the Loan Parties (behind the 2019 Refinancing Agreement) and a first-priority lien
on substantially all other assets of the Loan Parties.
2019 ABL Credit Agreement - Interest Rates and Fees
The interest rate on borrowings under the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement is, at the Borrowers’ option, either LIBOR (with a 2.0% floor) plus an applicable margin ranging from
3.00% to 3.50% or a base rate (with a 3.0% minimum) plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.00% to 2.50%.
2019 ABL Credit Agreement - Other Terms and Conditions
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement matures on April 12, 2022. There is an unused line fee ranging from 0.250% to 0.375% per annum on undrawn amounts.
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement contains representations and warranties, and covenants which are customary for debt facilities of this type. Unless the Required Lenders
otherwise consent in writing, the covenants limit the ability of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries to, among other things, to (i) incur additional indebtedness or issue
preferred stock, (ii) pay dividends or make distributions to the Company’s stockholders, (iii) purchase or redeem the Company’s equity interests, (iv) make investments, (v)
create liens on their assets, (vi) enter into transactions with the Company’s affiliates, (vii) sell assets and (viii) merge or consolidate with, or dispose of substantially all of the
Company’s assets to, other companies.
The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement includes customary events of default and other provisions that could require all amounts due thereunder to become immediately due and
payable, either automatically or at the option of the lenders, if the Company fails to comply with the terms of the 2019 ABL Credit Agreement or if other customary events
occur.
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The 2019 ABL Credit Agreement also contains a financial maintenance covenant for the 2019 Revolving Credit Facility, which is a requirement for the total leverage ratio of
the Company and its Subsidiaries not to exceed an amount beginning at 4.00 to 1.00 through September 30, 2019, and stepping down to 1.75 to 1.00 effective July 1, 2021.
As of June 30, 2019, the Company was in compliance with the financial and other covenants related to the 2019 Refinancing Agreement. At June 30, 2019, the Company had
irrevocable letters of credit in the amount of $4.2 million with its lender to secure obligations under its self-insurance program.
For further information on the Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement and the Refinancing Agreements, see also Note 7 – Debt in the Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Surety Bonding
In connection with our business, we are occasionally required to provide various types of surety bonds that provide an additional measure of security to our customers for our
performance under certain government and private sector contracts. Our ability to obtain surety bonds depends upon our capitalization, working capital, past performance,
management expertise and external factors, including the capacity of the overall surety market. Surety companies consider such factors in light of the amount of our backlog that
we have currently bonded and their current underwriting standards, which may change from time to time. The bonds we provide typically reflect the project’s total contract
value. As of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had approximately $98.3 million and $134.2 million, respectively, in surety bonds outstanding. We believe
that our $700 million bonding capacity provides us with a significant competitive advantage relative to many of our competitors which have limited bonding capacity.
Overall Liquidity Assessment
Management believes that the Refinancing Agreements will provide sufficient working capital funding to sustain our operations for at least the next twelve months. As of the
date of the issuance of the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements, management further believes that the combination of our current cash position, our
projected cash flow to be received from existing and new customers, our positive working capital, our significant bonding capacity, and our availability under the 2019
Refinancing Agreements, will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months.
Additionally, we expect that certain non-cash items, our net operating loss carryforwards and certain additional temporary differences between book and tax basis will mitigate
our cash outflows until such items are completely utilized, and therefore add to liquidity in the near term.
Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including revenue growth and costs incurred to support it. Our capital expenditures in future periods are expected
to grow in line with our business. To the extent that existing cash and cash from operations are not sufficient to fund our future operations, we may need to raise additional
funds through public or private equity or additional debt financing. Although we currently are not a party to any agreement with any third parties with respect to potential
investments in, or acquisitions of, businesses, we may enter into these types of arrangements in the future, which could also require us to seek additional equity or debt
financing. Additional funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all.
Insurance and Self-Insurance
We purchase workers’ compensation and general liability insurance under policies with per-incident deductibles of $250,000 per occurrence. Losses incurred over primary
policy limits are covered by umbrella and excess policies up to specified limits with multiple excess insurers. We accrue for the unfunded portion of costs for both reported
claims and claims incurred but not reported. The liability for unfunded reported claims and future claims is reflected on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as current
and non-current liabilities. The liability is computed by determining a reserve for each reported claim on a case-by-case basis based on the nature of the claim and historical loss
experience for similar claims plus an allowance for the cost of incurred but not reported claims. The current portion of the liability is included in accrued expenses and other
current liabilities on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The non-current portion of the liability is included in other long-term liabilities on the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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We are self-insured related to medical and dental claims under policies with annual per-claimant and annual aggregate stop-loss limits. We accrue for the unfunded portion of
costs for both reported claims and claims incurred but not reported. The liability for unfunded reported claims and future claims is reflected on the Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets as a current liability in accrued expenses and other current liabilities.
The components of the self-insurance liability are reflected below as of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018:
As of
June 30, 2019
$
487
424
657
$
1,568
$
113

(in thousands)
Current liability – workers’ compensation and general liability
Current liability – medical and dental
Non-current liability
Total liability
Restricted cash

As of
December 31, 2018
$
352
607
820
$
1,779
$
113

The restricted cash balance represents cash set aside for the funding of workers’ compensation and general liability insurance claims. This amount is replenished when depleted,
or at the beginning of each month.
Multiemployer Pension Plans
We participate in approximately 40 multiemployer pension plans (“MEPPs”) that provide retirement benefits to certain union employees in accordance with various collective
bargaining agreements (“CBAs”). As one of many participating employers in these MEPPs, we are responsible with the other participating employers for any plan underfunding.
Our contributions to a particular MEPP are established by the applicable CBAs; however, required contributions may increase based on the funded status of an MEPP and legal
requirements of the Pension Protection Act of 2006 (the “PPA”), which requires substantially underfunded MEPPs to implement a funding improvement plan (“FIP”) or a
rehabilitation plan (“RP”) to improve their funded status. Factors that could impact funded status of an MEPP include, without limitation, investment performance, changes in
the participant demographics, decline in the number of contributing employers, changes in actuarial assumptions and the utilization of extended amortization provisions. Assets
contributed to the MEPPs by us may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers. If a participating employer stops contributing to an MEPP, the
unfunded obligations of the MEPP may be borne by the remaining participating employers.
An FIP or RP requires a particular MEPP to adopt measures to correct its underfunding status. These measures may include, but are not limited to an increase in a company’s
contribution rate as a signatory to the applicable CBA, or changes to the benefits paid to retirees. In addition, the PPA requires that a 5.0% surcharge be levied on employer
contributions for the first year commencing shortly after the date the employer receives notice that the MEPP is in critical status and a 10.0% surcharge on each succeeding year
until a CBA is in place with terms and conditions consistent with the RP.
We could also be obligated to make payments to MEPPs if we either cease to have an obligation to contribute to the MEPP or significantly reduce our contributions to the
MEPP because we reduce the number of employees who are covered by the relevant MEPP for various reasons, including, but not limited to, layoffs or closure of a subsidiary
assuming the MEPP has unfunded vested benefits. The amount of such payments (known as a complete or partial withdrawal liability) would equal our proportionate share of
the MEPPs’ unfunded vested benefits. We believe that certain of the MEPPs in which we participate may have unfunded vested benefits. Due to uncertainty regarding future
factors that could trigger withdrawal liability, we are unable to determine (a) the amount and timing of any future withdrawal liability, if any, and (b) whether our participation
in these MEPPs could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are a smaller reporting company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act; therefore, pursuant to Item 301(c) of Regulation S-K, we are not required to provide the
information required by this Item.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation as of June 30, 2019, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting, which was reported in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018. Specifically, our monthly project reviews and our reviews of work-in-process schedules did not operate
effectively to properly identify project claim and pending change order (“PCO”) situations, thereby resulting in improper and untimely accounting for these issues.
In light of the foregoing material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, we continued to perform additional analyses at the branch and corporate levels to ensure
that our financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP. Accordingly, we believe that the financial statements included in this report fairly present, in all material
respects, our financial condition, results of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the periods presented.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company is committed to remediating the underlying causes of this material weakness by implementing improvements to our controls and procedures. In addressing the
material weakness, the Company, with the oversight of senior management, implemented the following steps to improve internal controls over its project accounting during the
second quarter of 2019:
·
Hired additional personnel to assist with cost and revenue accounting and related projections;
·
Conducted additional training of branch financial management and operational personnel;
·
Refined the Company’s related process and controls relative to project tracking and accounting, including the creation of a new control to reconcile work-in-process with
monthly project reviews; and
·
Tested and monitored controls designed to remediate the material weakness.
Except with respect to the changes discussed immediately above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f)) during the three months ended June 30, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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Part II
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Scherer Litigation
On May 16, 2017, plaintiffs, Jordan M. Scherer et al., filed a complaint in State Court in Hillsborough County, Florida, against our wholly owned subsidiaries, LFS and Harper
Limbach LLC (“Harper”). The complaint alleged that a Harper employee was in the course and scope of his employment at the time the personal car he was operating collided
with another car, causing injuries to three persons and one fatality. During the course of the litigation, the plaintiffs made settlement demands within LFS and Harper’s insurance
coverage limits. In October 2018, Plaintiffs agreed to settle and dismiss their lawsuit in exchange for payment of $30.0 million from LFS and Harper, which amounts were
entirely paid by the Company’s insurance carriers during February 2019. The Company had no monetary exposure, including for punitive damages. This matter was dismissed
on April 28, 2019.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes to our risk factors previously disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit
4.1
10.1

10.2
10.3

10.4
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF

Description
Form of CB Warrant issued pursuant to the 2019 Refinancing Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company's Form 10-K (File No.
001-36541) filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on April 15, 2019).
Financing Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2019, by and among the Company, Limbach Holdings LLC, Limbach Facility Services LLC, the lenders from
time to time party thereto, Cortland Capital Market Services LLC, as collateral agent and administrative agent, CB Agent Services LLC, as origination
agent, and the other parties party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's Form 10-K (File No. 001-36541) filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 15, 2019).
Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2019, by and among the Company, Limbach Facility Services LLC, the other Grantors party thereto
and Cortland Capital Market Services LLC, as collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company's Form 10-K (File No. 00136541) filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on April 15, 2019).
ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2019, by and among the Company, Limbach Holdings LLC, Limbach Facility Services LLC, the other
borrowers party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Citizens Bank, N.A., as collateral agent, administrative agent and origination agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company's Form 10-K (File No. 001-36541) filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 15, 2019).
Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2019, by and among the Company, Limbach Facility Services LLC, the other Grantors party thereto
and Citizens Bank, N.A., as collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's Form 10-K (File No. 001-36541) filed with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on April 15, 2019).
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Document.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.
LIMBACH HOLDINGS, INC.
/s/ Charles A. Bacon, III
Charles A. Bacon, III
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ John T. Jordan, Jr.
John T. Jordan, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: August 14, 2019
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
CERTIFICATION OF CEO
I, Charles A. Bacon, III, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 of Limbach Holdings, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
/s/ Charles A. Bacon, III
Charles A. Bacon, III
Chief Executive Officer

Date: August 14, 2019

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
CERTIFICATION OF CFO
I, John T. Jordan, Jr., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 of Limbach Holdings, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
/s/ John T. Jordan, Jr.
John T. Jordan, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer

Date: August 14, 2019

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Limbach Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned Charles A. Bacon, III, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of the undersigned’s knowledge and belief:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. Section 78m(a) or 78o(d)); and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: August 14, 2019
By
/s/ Charles A. Bacon, III
Charles A. Bacon, III, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Limbach Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned John T. Jordan, Jr., the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of the undersigned’s knowledge and belief:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. Section 78m(a) or 78o(d)); and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: August 14, 2019
By
/s/ John T. Jordan, Jr.
John T. Jordan, Jr., Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

